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We have a vision....

By 2050 the South West of Western Australia will be 
recognised internationally as a region of excellence. 

 To achieve this vision we have a blueprint

Think of the blueprint as a road map we need to follow to reach 
our destination: A Region of Excellence by 2050. 

 Helping to attain this goal is our team

Our staff members work with stakeholders in the region to achieve 
our vision. Our stakeholders are people like you, representing 
areas such as government, community and industry.

In 2015/16 we delivered outcomes 
for the South West region of 
Western Australia that will be felt 
today, tomorrow and beyond.

Top: Planning for a bicycle-friendly Greater Bunbury. Pictured: Kyle Daly, Alan Cross and Jason Gick. 
Left: Supporting Enable Southwest’s Jumpstart program. Pictured: Jayden Depiazzi.
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We’re working on 
   tomorrow, today

 An artist’s impression reveals how Margaret River’s new festival precinct is expected to look following redevelopment of the town’s main street. Once completed, the upgrades will further 
cement Margaret River as a modern, international tourist destination as the Busselton-Margaret River Regional Airport development gears up to open up the region’s tourism potential.
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Welcome to the South West 
Development Commission’s 
annual report for 2015/16. 
The report is provided to the Minister for Regional 

Development and is tabled in the Parliament of Western 

Australia. 

It has also been created to inform a range of stakeholders 

as well as the general community. By reading it, we hope 

you gain greater understanding about our organisation 

and its role in the South West of Western Australia, while 

obtaining insight into how our decision-making and 

activities are shaping the region. 

Most importantly, the report highlights our activities for the 

year as well as performance against the actions set out in 

the South West Regional Blueprint.  

Most of the information about our performance is 

contained in chapters named after our four delivery areas 

of Infrastructure, Industry and Business, People and 

Place, and Community.

A summary of our corporate performance and audited 

financial statements are also included.

It should be noted that this report has been developed in 

line with the Public Sector Commission’s annual reporting 

framework for the 2015/16 financial year. 

Online report 

This report is available to read online. The HTML format 

has been designed for ease of use, without the need to 

download documents, though the report is also available 

to download as a PDF from our website. 

We encourage you to read the report online, in either 

HTML or PDF format, to reduce printing costs and 

environmental impact. Copies are available from SWDC 
but in limited numbers on request. 

If you choose to download and print this report at home 
or work, we encourage you to use recycled paper. Click 
here to organise a free printed copy of our annual report 
to be mailed to you. 

Accessibility 

This document is available in alternative formats on 
request. 

Contact us on 9792 2000 or info@swdc.wa.gov.au for 
more information. Read this report online at   
www.swdc.wa.gov.au .
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Centre: We supported the ReDiscover street art festival to once again take place in Bunbury. 
Left: Collie shire president and SWDC board member Wayne Sanford invites people to have their say about Collie’s economic future.
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Compliance

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual 
Report of the South West Development Commission, for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2016.

The South West Development Commission was 
established under the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993.

In the performance of its functions, the South West 
Development Commission complies with all relevant 
written laws including but not limited to:

• Regional Development Commissions Act 1993
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Contaminated Sites Act 2003
• Disability Services Act 1993
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Industrial Relations Act 1979
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
• State Records Act 2000
• State Supply Commission Act 1991
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Royalties for Regions Act 2009

Stuart Hicks AO

Chairman of the Board
8 August 2016

Anne Oades
A/Chief Executive Officer
8 August 2016

In the financial administration of the South West 
Development Commission, we have complied with the 
requirements of the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
every other relevant written law, and exercised controls 
which provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and 
expenditure of monies and the acquisition and disposal 
of public property and incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any 
circumstances which would render the particulars in this 
statement misleading or inaccurate.
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A MESSAGE FROM OUR 

CHAIRMAN

Much of the Commission’s work is aimed at creating a stronger tomorrow. And we can 
honestly say that the future for the South West looks bright. This year, we officially 
released the South West Regional Blueprint to guide growth and development of the 
region. It forms a road map, setting out a course of action that needs to be followed in 
order for the region to remain sustainable as we journey towards 2050. 

Just one year on from the blueprint’s release and 2050 is looking like a great time 
to be in the South West. There will be an airport giving people from interstate 
and overseas direct access to the region for holidays and to attend increasingly 
high-profile events such as CinefestOZ and the Margaret River Gourmet Escape, 
bolstering local tourism and businesses. There will be greatly enhanced waterfronts 
in the region’s cities, boosting tourism and community life. And regional towns 
such as Collie, Manjimup and Margaret River will have become more attractive 
alternatives to living in the Perth and metropolitan areas because of the lifestyle 
opportunities afforded in the region. None of this is fantastical – all of these scenarios 
are being translated into reality. We’ve done the planning work and secured about 

$207million in Growing Our South Royalties for Regions funding to make them 
happen.

Of course, there will always be challenges but by working together, we are confident 
we will be able to overcome them. Just as we assisted Manjimup to successfully reinvent 

itself, we are now working with the Shire of Collie and community to diversify the town’s 
economy in response to uncertainty surrounding the coal industry and local coal and energy 

projects. And we are making progress with our efforts to build the stock of affordable and 
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suitable housing for seniors in smaller communities such 
as Boyanup, Dardanup, Northcliffe and Pemberton as the 
population both grows and ages.

As you will read in the pages of this report, we have 
delivered numerous and various outcomes for the region. 
In fact, if we had to sum up our year, we would say it has 
been about delivery – and we delivered strongly.

We delivered a long-term strategy for investment to 
support the growth and development of the region. 
We delivered on the actions set out in that strategy by 
securing hundreds of millions of dollars in funding to 
make them a reality. We delivered on the need to respond 
to issues and global shifts impacting the South West. 
And we delivered funds, projects, services, advice and 
leadership that provided outcomes for the region and 
those who live here.

We look forward to working with you to deliver even more 
for the region next year.

But before we start on 2016/17, we would like to 

acknowledge the fact that this year marks Don Punch’s 

last as chief executive officer of the South West 

Development Commission. Over the past 18 years at 

the helm of our organisation, Don has made a significant 

contribution to the region that will be remembered for 

years to come. You only have to consider the hundreds 

of millions of dollars in Growing Our South Royalties for 

Regions funding that the Commission has secured for 

game-changing projects like the Transforming Bunbury’s 

Waterfront initiative to appreciate how Don’s legacy to the 

region will be felt long after his departure from SWDC.

I would also like to express my gratitude to the board and 

staff of the Commission for their great contribution during 

the year. Greg Duff, Ian Stubbs and Wade De Campo 

retired during 2015/16 and I thank them for their valuable 

service to the Commission, and by extension, the region.

 – Stuart Hicks

Delivering on 
the Blueprint's 
promise.

 Collie Shire president and SWDC board member Wayne Sanford has been aiming to find ways 
to grow and diversify Collie’s economy as part of the Collie Economic Development Taskforce.
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1
Blueprint to 

guide growth and 
development of the 

region

$20.73m
Towards Stage 2 of 
the Transforming 

Bunbury’s Waterfront 
project

$3.55m
Towards the delivery 
of 60 high care beds 

at Hocart Lodge

$58.26m
For the second stage 
of the Margaret River 

Perimeter Road

3
Conferences held to 
get people thinking 

about the future

3
Contestable grants 

programs

$143,000
In support of local 
events through our 
South West Events 

Program

$24.9m
Towards Stage 1 of 
the Transforming 

Bunbury’s Waterfront 
project

$4.5m
To develop the 

Busselton foreshore

$22.3m
To makeover the 

Manjimup town centre

$5.5m
To upgrade the 

Margaret River Main 
Street

3
Emergency community 

response trailers

$553,706
Towards community-led 
initiatives in the region 

through the Community 
Chest Fund

WHAT WE DELIVERED

the 
numbers
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We again supported the CinefestOZ film festival, which recorded more than  
23,000 attendances and attracted $2.73 million into the region in 2015.

Blueprint.
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In a year that the region 
faced both new and 
familiar challenges, we 
made a positive impact.

Our executive team members Patrick Warrand, Anna Oades, Don Punch, Susan Fitchat  
and Ashley Clements go over plans to transform Bunbury’s waterfront.

∎ The securing of about $207million from the Royalties for Regions Growing 
Our South fund to get region-shaping projects off the ground

∎ Release of the South West Regional Blueprint to guide the sustainable 
growth and development of the South West up to 2050

∎ The development of high-quality business cases to support 
transformational projects in the region

Highlights... An important focus of our work this year was the creation 

of high-quality business cases aimed at securing funding 

for projects that have the power to transform the region. 

We were very successful in our pursuit of money through 

the Royalties for Regions Growing Our South initiative, 

obtaining almost $140million from this well of funds in 

2015/16 on top of the approximately $68.8million that we 

extracted the previous financial year. 

As a result, we have delivered the finances needed for 

a raft of priority projects that have a vital role to play 

in unlocking the economic and social potential of the 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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South West. The development of the Busselton-Margaret 
River Regional Airport, transformation of the Bunbury 
waterfront, revamp of the Busselton foreshore, second 
stage of the Margaret River Perimeter Road, Margaret 
River main street upgrade, Manjimup town centre 
enhancement, and accommodation projects for seniors 
will all have the capacity to strengthen the region in the 
years ahead thanks to our efforts in this area. 

Having mined about $207million from the Growing Our 
South initiative – and with more in play – we would like 
to acknowledge the important role Royalties for Regions 
has played in our ability to deliver funds for major projects 
and deliver against the objectives highlighted in the South 
West Regional Blueprint. The funding program has again 
been a critical component in our regional development 
toolbox, whether that be for large-scale transformational 

projects or smaller, community-led initiatives. 

One of the reasons we have been able to attain the 

outcomes that we have has been through the presence 

of a strategy to guide the sustainable growth and 

development of the region. Almost two years in the 

making, the official release of the South West Regional 

Blueprint on July 1 2015 marked a pivotal turning point for 

us in that it replaced our strategic plan and officially set 

the direction of our service delivery up to 2050. 

Produced in partnership with Regional Development 

Australia – South West, the document sets out objectives 

to achieve – including the generation of up to 200,000 

new jobs – to ensure that even as the region’s population 

expands, residents continue to enjoy prosperity and 

quality lifestyles. The road map is notable because it 

represents state and federal government agencies coming 

together with community stakeholders to agree on what 

is best for the region’s future, strengthening the case for 

achieving support for projects listed in the document.

As well as delivering on the transformational projects in 

the Blueprint, we have also supported smaller initiatives 

that aim to make a positive impact in the shorter term. In 

delivering both the Community Chest Fund and Regional 

Grants Scheme contestable grants arms of the Royalties 

for Regions program in the South West, we have been 

able to build the region from the ground up through the 

provision of smaller grants that are expected to make a 

big impact in regards to the community’s ability to provide 

facilities and services that will benefit local people. 

In total, 28 initiatives ranging from men’s sheds to a bush 
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Water movement was tracked in Bunbury’s Casuarina Boat Harbour as part of planning for the Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront project.
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fire brigade training room to a social enterprise supporting 
local women shared in $553,706 through the most recent 
round of the Community Chest Fund. We anticipate 
funding announcements for the Regional Grants Scheme, 
which was open to applications for funding this year, to be 
made early next financial year.

Record funding of $143,000 was allocated to 57 concerts, 
festivals and concerts through our annual South West 
Community Events Program. This significantly boosted the 
capacity of community groups to stage quality events that 
bolster local economies, attract visitors and elevate the 
profile of the region. 

In meeting the challenge of catering for the needs of a 
growing – and ageing – population, we have been actively 
driving and supporting a number of activities designed 
to grow jobs and enhance quality of life. Activities have 
included working to identify options for growing and 
diversifying Collie’s economy, fostering trade opportunities 
for local businesses, developing growth sectors such as 
the creative industries, and ensuring our communities are 
great places to be for people at every stage of life. 

Because our job is not only to provide insight into how to 
ride the tailwinds, but also how to push forward against 
the headwinds, we either organised or were involved with 
producing three events aimed at getting people thinking 
about the opportunities and challenges that the region 
may face in the future.

The importance of these conferences was brought 
home by the fact the South West faced well-publicised 
challenges. Indeed, it has been a year of highs and lows 
for the South West. On the one hand, we have been 
successful in achieving results and delivering solutions for 
the region. On the other, the South West has experienced 

tough times brought on by an evolving and unpredictable 

world that have reminded us of how vulnerable the region 

can be.

Like many, we were devastated when the historic town of 

Yarloop was all but destroyed by bushfire and shared the 

community’s concerns for the coal-mining centre of Collie 

as the industry took a hit across the globe. 

But amongst the setbacks, challenges and heartbreak 

experienced in the region, those who call the South West 

home also had reason to smile and feel positive about its 

future. And that’s largely because of the work we carried 

out in partnership with people and organisations who, like 

us, have the region’s best interests at heart.

Together with our stakeholders, we delivered crucial wins 

in our ongoing battle to ensure that jobs and quality of life 

kept pace with an upwards population trajectory that’s 

on its way to more than doubling to a possible 500,000 

by 2050. As a region-building organisation, we can once 

again be proud of what we have achieved for the South 

West. And our stakeholders agree with us. The results of 

our annual client survey show that 92 per cent of local 

government respondents and 95 per cent of key client 

respondents rate us as effective.

We would like to acknowledge the support we have 

received from our stakeholders. Together, we have made 

a difference to the region that will be felt now and in the 

years and decades to come. We would also like to thank 

our board, led by Stuart Hicks, and our staff. We too 

would like to thank our Minister, Terry Redman, and the 

staff in his office for their support. We look forward to 

building on our work next year with you – our partners in 

regional development – by our side.
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Our work in developing business cases 
resulted in State Government Royalties 
for Regions funding for the following 
projects in 2015/16:

∎ Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront – Stage 1

∎ Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront – Stage 2

∎ Busselton Foreshore Redevelopment

∎ Margaret River Perimeter Road – Stage 2

∎ Margaret River Main Street Upgrade

∎ Manjimup Town Centre Revitalisation

∎ Hocart Lodge Expansion

Business cases that secured funding in 
2014/15 resulted in funds for the:

∎   Busselton-Margaret River Regional Airport

∎   Northcliffe Aged Accommodated Units

∎   Pemberton Retirement Village Extension

∎   Ferguson Valley Tourism Route

∎   South West Ageing in Place Housing Pilot

In the spotlight...
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Delivery highlights
a look back at how we helped 
the region in 2015/16

Blueprint mission
We will develop distance neutral infrastructure that 
is linked to world opportunities and respects our 
environment

Delivery area: Infrastructure 
Examples of outcomes

∎ Funding is secured for the first two stages of the Transforming Bunbury’s 
Waterfront project

∎ Funding is secured for stage two of the Margaret River Perimeter Road

∎ Achieving funds to complete the Margaret River Perimeter Road unlocks 
funding for upgrading Margaret River’s main street

∎ Molloy Island gets a mobile phone tower

∎ The first sealing of the Ferguson Valley Tourism Route is completed

∎ A free wi-fi service is switched on in Margaret River’s main street

∎ The Federal Government announces a commitment to provide funding 
towards developing the Busselton-Margaret River Regional Airport to 
accommodate international flights
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Mike Smart and Stuart Hicks on Margaret River’s main street.  
The completed perimeter road is expected to reduce traffic in the town centre.

Top: The Busselton-Margaret River Regional Airport is being developed to 
accommodate interstate and international flights.
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Blueprint mission
We will support a broad internationally engaged 
industry base that is business ready and Asia capable

Delivery area: Industry and Business

Examples of outcomes
∎ The Collie Economic Development Taskforce is formed to identify 

opportunities for growing and diversifying Collie’s economy

∎ A record amount of funding is allocated to South West community events

∎ The Take the Loop campaign supports tourism recovery in the 
Geographe region following the Yarloop and Waroona bushfires

∎ The movie adaptation of Jasper Jones is filmed in Pemberton

∎ The Film South West website is launched to promote the region as a 
quality filming location

∎ A South West Focus conference is held to highlight opportunities that 
people may be able to tap into in the years ahead

∎ A new partnership is formed with the Margaret River Busselton Tourism 
Association to promote the region’s food, wine and tourism appeal 
overseas

∎ Singapore and Vietnam are targeted in overseas trade missions

∎ A creative innovation space opens its doors in Margaret River

∎ The South West Science Council is formed to promote the use of science 
across the region
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Local students got a chance to put their training into action 
at the South West Focus conference.

The Pemberton community was thanked for its support  
during the filming of Jasper Jones in the town.
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Blueprint mission
We will seek to develop a region of first choice, 
building population and improving amenity

Delivery area: People and Place

Examples of outcomes

∎ Collie, Manjimup and Margaret River complete the first stage of the 
SuperTowns project and begin working on second stage projects

∎ A Critical Horizons conference is held to examine the opportunities and 
challenges of housing the region’s growing – and ageing – population

∎ New seniors housing is underway in Pemberton and Northcliffe

∎ Planning is advanced for the South West Ageing in Place Housing Pilot 

∎ The South West Affordable Housing Strategy is formally endorsed

∎ A local area plan for the Bunbury suburb of Withers is developed

∎ Greater Bunbury is given the opportunity to create a strategy to drive growth 
and prosperity through the Regional Centres Development Plan

∎ A Futures Forum is held to get people thinking about how they can help to 
shape a prosperous and vibrant Greater Bunbury

∎ Funding is achieved to progress planning for a bicycle-friendly Greater 
Bunbury
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Top right: Housing Minister Colin Holt and SWDC chairman Stuart Hicks at the Critical Horizons conference. 
Bottom:  Ian Wilson, Alan Cross and Pat Scallan promote the Working Life Heritage Trail.

Pemberton Aged Accommodation president Gordon Smith 
at the site where new units will be built in Pemberton.
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Blueprint mission
We will drive and support agendas that promote 
cohesive, vibrant and engaged communities

Delivery area: Community

Examples of outcomes
∎ Royalties for Regions grants help to get a long-list of community projects off the 

ground

∎ Community emergency response trailers are strategically stored around the region

∎ Volunteers are supported to carry out community services and stage local events

∎ Placemaking activities in the Bunbury suburb of Withers create community 

connections

∎ The Rotary SW Young Achievers Program helps a group of young residents to 

reach their potential

∎ Young athletes in the South West Academy of Sport are given the support they 

need to excel on and off the field

∎ Support is given to local child and parent centres
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Right: Lydell Huntly, Celeste Bullock and Lynda Green in the new child care centre building in Margaret River. 
Below: Western Australian Circus Festival in Karridale.

Top right: Housing Minister Colin Holt and SWDC chairman Stuart Hicks at the Critical Horizons conference. 
Bottom:  Ian Wilson, Alan Cross and Pat Scallan promote the Working Life Heritage Trail.
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ABOUT US

The Commission was enacted in 1994 under the Regional 

Development Commissions Act 1993, and is one of nine 

uniformly legislated agencies, each serving a different 

region of Western Australia. 

Prior to 1994, the South West Development Commission 

was known as the South West Development Authority. 

The Authority was established by its own act of parliament 

in 1984 to plan, coordinate and promote the economic 

and social development of the South West region of 

Western Australia.  Achievements of the Authority ranged 

from the development of Bunbury as a regional centre 

through the Better Cities Project, to the establishment of 

the Bunbury Institute of Advanced Education (now Edith 

Cowan University South West Campus). 

Though our name has changed over the years, our 

purpose has remained the same: to coordinate and 

promote the economic and social development of the 

South West region of Western Australia. 

What we do 

We work to make the South West an even better place 
to live, work and invest. We do so by partnering with 
communities, government, business and industry to 
identify, support and realise projects that benefit the 
region. 

Developing the region’s economy and improving quality of 
life are key areas of focus for us. The specific objectives of 
the Commission are to: 

• Maximise job creation and improve career 
opportunities in the region 

• Develop and broaden the economic base of the 
region 

• Identify infrastructure services to promote economic 
and social development within the region 

• Seek to ensure the general standard of government 
services and access to those services in the region is 
comparable to that which applies to the metropolitan 
area 

• Generally take steps to encourage, promote, facilitate 
and monitor the economic development of the region. 

In addition, the SWDC is a body corporate and retains an 
ability to deal in landholdings acquired prior to the 1993 
Act by the former Authority.

Who we are

Our board and executive team took the time to visit Manjimup for the purpose of seeing projects such as the town centre 
revitalisation first-hand. In 2016, the first stage of the project was completed, and funding secured towards stage two.
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Performance management framework

We work to meet the following policy objectives the State 

Government has identified for regional development:

• Building capacity in regional communities 

• Retaining benefits in regional communities 

• Improving services to regional communities 

• Attaining sustainability; and 

• Growing prosperity. 

In meeting the objectives set out for us, we also meet the 

wider State Government goals of: 

• Results-based service delivery 

• Financial and economic responsibility 

• Social and environmental responsibility 

• Stronger focus on the regions; and 

• Stage building – Major Projects

More details about our performance management 

framework can be found on page 25.

How we work 

To realise our aim of making the South West an even 

better place to live, work and invest, we develop and 

support projects that fit under our four strategic priority 

areas of: 

Infrastructure – We focus on projects that remove 

distance as a barrier, and build economic and community 

development.

Industry and Business – We work to support a broad, 

internationally-engaged industry base that is business 

ready and positioned to engage with the markets in Asia.

People and Place – We seek to develop a region of first 

choice, building population and improving amenity.

Community – We strive to create cohesive, vibrant and 

engaged communities.

To achieve the objectives that fall under each strategic 

priority area, we work in partnership with other agencies 

and collaborate with a long-list of organisations.

As a regional organisation, covering 23,970 square 

kilometres, we work across all 12 local government 

areas of the South West. These are the cities of Bunbury 

and Busselton, as well as the shires of Harvey, Collie, 

Dardanup, Capel, Donnybrook-Balingup, Bridgetown-

Greenbushes, Boyup Brook, Manjimup, Nannup, and 

Augusta-Margaret River. 

Our headquarters is located in Bunbury, and we also 

have offices in Collie and Manjimup. Staff travel widely 

throughout the region and regional coordinators have 

specific responsibility for each of the three sub-regions − 

Bunbury-Wellington, Vasse, and Warren-Blackwood. 

Adding to our ability to produce positive outcomes for the 

region is the fact that we are contracted by the Australian 

Trade Commission to deliver Austrade’s TradeStart 

services. We are also the base for the Bunbury-Jiaxing 

Business Office. Additionally, we have memorandums of 

understanding with a number of organisations.

In carrying out our work, our staff and board members 

adopt the Commission’s value system.

ABOUT US OUR MINISTER OUR BOARD OUR EXECUTIVE 
TEAM

OUR OFFICE 
OUR PEOPLE

HOW WE 
PERFORMED

Our vision

The South West of Western Australia is internationally 
recognised as a region of excellence.

Our mission

To develop the region’s economy and enhance those 
qualities which make the South West the best place in 
which to live, work and invest.

Our promise to you

We are leaders – We provide leadership to the region that 
is inspiring, motivating and relevant. 

We are professional – We act at all times with honesty, 
integrity and fairness, recognising the importance of being 
open and accountable in our actions. 

We embrace sustainable practice – We take a well-
planned, considered approach to our projects to ensure 
the qualities and opportunities of the region are enhanced 
for both present and future generations. 

We display excellent service – We aim to be global leaders 
in regional development, with valued and skilled personnel 
and a responsive attitude to people.
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OUR MINISTER

Executive OfficerCEO

Board

Minister

Strategic Manager People, 
Place and Community

Strategic Manager 
Infrastructure

Chief Finance Officer

Customer Service

Community Relations

Communications

Finance and Business 
Analyst

Project Officer 
Infrastructure

Project Analyst

Regional Coordinator 
Vasse

Industry and Business 
Development

Finance Officer

Regional Coordinator 
Bunbury Wellington Tourism Development

Records Officer

Regional Coordinator 
Warren Blackwood

Grants / Regional 
Coordinator

International Business
Administration Officer

Research Analyst

Project Officer

Strategic Manager 
Business and Industry

Organisational structure

Strong governance and organisational structure help us to deliver 
strong outcomes for the region. We are led by the Minister for Regional 
Development, a board of management and an executive team.

Hon Terry Redman MLA Minister for 
Regional Development

We are responsible to the Minister for Regional 
Development, who has the power to direct the 
Commission, either generally or with respect to a 
particular matter, on the exercise and performance 
of its power, functions and duties. 

Terry Redman has been the Minister for Regional 
Development since November 2013. 

Mr Redman first entered State Parliament in 
February 2005 after successfully contesting the 
seat of Stirling. He now represents the electorate 
of Warren-Blackwood.
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OUR BOARD

The South West Development Commission board is the 
governing body responsible to the Regional Development 
Minister for setting the direction and priorities of the 
Commission. It has nine members selected from 
community and local government nominations, as well as 
Ministerial appointments.

The Commission’s chief executive officer also serves 
on the board, rounding out the total number of board 
members to 10. 

All board members bring skills, knowledge and experience 
that benefit the Commission and the region. 

Like staff, board members are expected to declare 
conflicts of interests and adhere to a code of conduct.

Primary activities

• Setting the overall strategic direction and goals of the 
Commission 

• Providing guidance on specific projects and initiatives 

• Formulating Commission policy 

• Reviewing progress at regular intervals to ensure 
established goals are being achieved 

• Monitoring Commission expenditure 

• Promoting economic development 

• Representing the Commission at relevant meetings 
and functions 

• Providing a conduit between the Commission and the 

community 

• Facilitating cooperation between organisations in the 

region

During the course of the year, the board visited Vasse and 

Manjimup to see projects first-hand and gain a deeper 

understanding of local issues.

Terms of appointment 

Board members can be appointed for one, two or three 

year terms.  They are eligible to apply for a further term 

and may serve for a maximum of six years. 

During the fiscal year, we bid farewell to some familiar 

faces as we welcomed new board members. Former 

Busselton mayor Ian Stubbs retired from his role on 

council and therefore vacated his role on the board. 

Shire of Manjimup president Wade De Campo and timber 

industry representative Greg Duff left after their terms 

expired. Shire of Harvey president Tania Jackson and 

Manjimup resident Ed Valom attended their first board 
meeting on Friday August 28. Meanwhile, Bunbury Mayor 
Gary Brennan was announced as a new board member 
in April 2016. In the same month, existing board member 
Sue Daubney became deputy chair. 

More information about the board, including remuneration, 
can be found on page 89.

Attendance

The following shows the rate of attendance of each board 
member in accordance to the number of meetings they 
were eligible to attend.

Stuart Hicks – 9/11 Ian Stubbs – 3/3

Greg Duff – 1/1 Wade De Campo – 1/1

Sue Daubney – 8/11 Ed Valom – 10/10

Tania Jackson 10/10 Ernie Kay 10/11

Brian Piesse – 11/11 Louis Evans – 8/11

Wayne Sanford – 10/11 Gary Brennan – 3/3 

Don Punch – 9/11

Front row: Louis Evans, Stuart Hicks, Sue Daubney and Don Punch.  
Back row: Wayne Sanford, Tania Jackson, Brian Piesse, Ed Valom and Ernie Kay.
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in several major international chemical and fertiliser 
companies. 

Louis Evans 
Ministerial appointment, September 2011 
Current term 2013 – 2016
Louis Evans has had more than 20 years’ experience in 
the facilitation of Aboriginal economic development and 
wellbeing, most recently as the chief executive officer 
of the Ngalang Boodja Council Aboriginal Corporation 
in Collie. She is actively involved in land management 
initiatives of Noongar groups and through her previous 
roles as executive director of the Centre for Sustainable 
Mine Lakes and professor of Aquatic Science at Curtin 
University. She is a strong advocate for sustainable 
economic development in the South West. 

Wayne Sanford 
Local government appointment, September 2012 
Current term 2015 – 2018
Wayne Sanford is the Collie Shire president, a position he 
has held since 2007. A Collie Shire councillor since 2001, 
he sits on a number of Shire committees, contributing 
to areas such as local emergency management. He has 
chaired the Regional Centres Community Reference 
Group, ensuring community involvement in Collie’s 
transformation into a SuperTown. Mr Sanford is deputy 
chairman of the Bunbury Wellington Economic Alliance 
board. 

Ernie Kay 
Ministerial appointment September 2012 
Current term 2014 – 2016
Busselton resident Ernie Kay brings a wealth of 
experience to the SWDC board gained in senior executive 

Downs Dairy in Northcliffe. Having been awarded the WA 
Telstra Business Women’s Innovation Award in 2006, she 
was further honoured to be announced the First Amongst 
Equals at the WA Business News 40under40 for 2010. 
Mrs Daubney has been a director of the Food Industry 
Association Board (WA) and a member of the Small 
Business Finance Panel (Reserve Bank of Australia), chair 
of the Food Industry Advisory Group (CCIWA) and sat on 
the general council of the Chamber of Commerce (Perth) 
and the Agrifood Alliance of WA.

Don Punch, chief executive officer
Don Punch is the chief executive officer of the South 
West Development Commission and is responsible for 
the coordinated economic and social development of the 
South West region. He has worked throughout regional 
Western Australia on many infrastructure projects and has 
special expertise in community and economic planning, 
trade facilitation, internet marketing and online education, 
and community relations. 

Brian Piesse
Community representative, appointed April 2011 
Current term 2013 – 2016
Brian Piesse lives in Argyle and operates businesses 
in Busselton and Margaret River. A former Shire of 
Capel councillor, Mr Piesse is a member of the Rotary 
Club of Bunbury, the Bunbury Wellington Economic 
Alliance, a member of the Edith Cowan University 
(South West) Advisory Board, a member of the Western 
Dairy Board, and a member of the Kings Park Botanic 
Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management. 
He has backgrounds in strategic planning, executive 
management, business and market development, and 
education governance. He held senior executive roles 

Board subcommittee

The Audit and Risk Assurance Subcommittee was once 
again in operation during the reporting period. This 
group plays a key role in assisting the board to fulfil 
its responsibilities in relation to areas such as financial 
reporting, internal control systems, risk management 
systems and the internal and external audit functions. 
The staff members who sat on the subcommittee were 
Don Punch and Susan Fitchat, as well as board members 
Brian Piesse (chair), Ernie Kay and Ed Valom (who 
replaced Wade De Campo). The committee met four times 
over the course of 2015/16 – July 2015, October 2015, 
February 2016 and April 2016.

Board as of June 30 2016

Stuart Hicks AO, chairman
Ministerial appointment, September 2011
Current term 2015 – 2017
Stuart Hicks is a business policy and planning advisor. 
He has previously headed a range of West Australian 
government agencies, including Transperth, the 
Department of Transport, and Department of Marine and 
Harbours. Mr Hicks has served as a commissioner of 
the WA Planning Commission, chairman of the National 
Transport Commission and chairman of the East Perth 
Redevelopment Authority. He is deputy chair of the 
Regional Development Council of WA and a member of 
the Regional Development Trust.

Sue Daubney, deputy chair 
Community representative, appointed April 2011 
Current term 2014 – 2017
Sue Daubney is the managing director of Bannister 
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and directorship roles in major international companies. 
These roles have spanned Asia and Europe and give him a 
unique perspective on how the South West can extend its 
presence and influence in an area that is vital to our future 
growth. He currently works in management consulting 
and has also been involved with sporting organisations 
advising on marketing and sponsorship opportunities. He 
is on the board of the South West Academy of Sport. 

Ed Valom 
Community representative, appointed August 2015 
Current term 2015 – 2018
Ed owns and operates a farming property in Manjimup. 
He has a background in the timber industry that includes 
a stint managing the woodchip export terminal in Albany. 
He has previously served as a councillor and deputy 
president on the Manjimup Shire, and counts among 
his accomplishments the development of the Manjimup 
Timber Park. Ed is currently deputy chair of the Forest 
Products Commission, and has a strong interest in the 
community.

Tania Jackson 
Local government appointment, August 2015 
Current term 2015 – 2017
Tania lives in Australind and has been the Harvey Shire 
president since 2011. She has been a shire councillor 
since 1997 and deputy shire president for eight years. 
Over the years Tania has represented local government 
on Tourism South West and is currently a member of 
Kemerton Industrial Park Coordinating Committee, 
Bunbury Wellington Economic Alliance, Myalup Wellington 
(Water for Food) Ministerial Group, Peron Naturalist 
Partnership-Coastal Adaption Action, Greater Bunbury 
Regional Cities Development Plan Steering Group and 

a volunteer ambulance officer with Harvey St John 

Ambulance. She has worked extensively in the not-

for-profit sector and has strong interest in community 

planning.

Gary Brennan
Local government appointment, April 2016 
Current term 2016 – 2018
Elected Bunbury Mayor in October 2013, Gary Brennan 

has provided leadership to the community to position 

Bunbury as the state's most progressive regional city and 

one of the nation's most progressive regional cities. He 

was raised in Carey Park and whilst his former careers 

have taken him away from Bunbury at times, it is here 

where he has spent the majority of his life. His sons and 

stepchildren were all born in Bunbury. He is married to 

Dr Robyn Morris and is a grandfather to five children. He 

also serves as a Justice of the Peace and is an Honorary 

Member of the South Bunbury Rotary Club and patron 

to the Bunbury City Band, Bunbury Swimming Club and 

City of Bunbury Surf Life Saving Club. He is a member of 

the South West Region Planning Committee and a deputy 

member of the Local Government Advisory Board.

Served on board during 2015/16 

Ian Stubbs 
Local government, 2014 – 2016
Ian Stubbs has more than four decades of experience in 

local government. He has been the chief executive officer 

of the shires of Dandaragan, Wyndham-East Kimberley, 

Busselton and Toodyay and has worked as a consultant 

to local government. He was formerly the mayor of the 

City of Busselton. Mr Stubbs was awarded the OAM in 

2014 for services to Local Government and the Busselton 
community. 

Greg Duff 
Community representative, 2012 – 2015
Greg Duff lives in Bunbury and works as the mill manager 
for Wespine Industries, the largest structural softwood 
sawmill in Western Australia. He is further involved in 
the industry as a member of the Solid Wood Processing 
Advisory Group for Forest and Wood Products Australia. 
He is also the current secretary for the Leschenault 
Timber Industry Club.

Wade De Campo 
Local government, 2013 – 2015 
Wade De Campo is the president of the Shire of 
Manjimup. He has held numerous positions over the 
years, including with the Warren-Blackwood Economic 
Alliance, Pemberton Chamber of Commerce, Rotary Club 
of Manjimup and Manjimup Cherry Harmony Festival. He 
is a board member of the Conservation Commission of 
Western Australia.

Board remuneration 

Board remuneration for 2015/16:

Chairperson: $63,000 per annum

Deputy Chairperson: Full-day meeting: $790 per 
meeting. Half-day meeting: $513 per meeting. Plus an 
additional $5000 per annum.

Members: Full-day meeting: $622 per meeting. Half-day 
meeting: $403.
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Our executive team

The Commission’s executive team provides leadership 

to the Commission’s staff, with each member heading 

up a section of our organisation. The executive team 

meets regularly for the purpose of formulating advice 

to the board and coordinating decision-making within 

the Commission. With diverse backgrounds in regional 

development, members of the executive have experience 

across a number of fields including economics, industry, 

human services, policy and finance.

Don Punch
Chief Executive Officer
MBA, Bachelor of Psychology, Bachelor of Social Work, 

Graduate of the Australian Company of Directors 

Don Punch has extensive experience working throughout 

regional Western Australia on many infrastructure 

projects and has special expertise in community and 

economic planning, trade facilitation, marketing and online 

education, and community relations. He is the recipient 

of an honorary citizenship from the City of Jiaxing in 

Southern China for services to trade and economic 

development. 

Patrick Warrand
Strategic Manager – Industry and Business Services
Bachelor of Engineering (Mining), Post Graduate Diploma 
in Management and MBA (Technology Management), 

MAUSIMM and MAICD

Patrick Warrand has been with the South West 

Development Commission for the past three years, mainly 

in his current role. Patrick came to the Commission as a 

mining engineer and manager with 30 years’ experience 

in industry. He spent more than seven years as general 

manager and company director at Premier Coal and 

nearly 20 years with BHP Billiton in senior management 

roles in Western Australia, Canada and Indonesia. He has 

a strong interest in the development of new, growing and 

sustainable businesses for the South West.

Anna Oades
Strategic Manager – People, Place and Community
Bachelor of Arts, Graduate Diploma in Education

Anna Oades has wide-ranging experience in the WA 
public sector in diverse areas such as community 
development and funding, social policy and research, 
and social planning. She oversees the team at the 
Commission responsible for building quality of life in the 
region. 

Ashley Clements
Strategic Manager – Infrastructure
Bachelor of Arts (Hons), Post Graduate Certificate in 
Business (Management)

Ashley Clements has 18 years' experience in regional 
development, at State, Federal, local government 
and the not-for-profit sector level. Prior to joining the 
Commission, he was the Regional Manager-Southern 
WA with AusIndustry, which is part of the Commonwealth 
Department of Industry. He has an interest in helping 
facilitate ‘distance neutral’ infrastructure that will underpin 
growth in the region’s future.

Susan Fitchat  
Chief Finance Officer 
Master of Commerce (Accounting), Fellow of the Institute 
of Public Accountants, Member of the Australian Institute 
of Directors and Institute of Financial Accountants

Susan Fitchat is responsible for the management of the 
Commission’s financial reporting, human resources, 
information technology and administration services. 
Notable work experience includes many years in 
financial management and administration for Eskom in 
South Africa. In Australia, Susan has worked for an oil 
exploration company and an aboriginal medical centre, as 
well as local and state government.  Susan is a member 
of the Institute of the Public Accountants and registered 
to participate in the Certified Practicing Accountant’s 
program.

ABOUT US OUR MINISTER OUR BOARD OUR EXECUTIVE OUR OFFICE 
OUR PEOPLE

HOW WE 
PERFORMED

OUR EXECUTIVE

Patrick Warrand, Anna Oades, Sue Fitchat and Ashley Clements.
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Underpinning our work in carrying out the business of 
regional development in the South West region was our 
capable team.

Considered the backbone of the Commission, our team 
allowed us to execute our strategic plan effectively and 
efficiently. It’s because of them that we have been able to 
do what we do – and achieve the results that we have. A 
full staff profile can be found on page 106.

Workplace profile and policies

In the reporting year, staff occupied a variety of full and 
part-time roles, ranging from regional development 
coordinator to finance and business officer and corporate 
services officer. 

Importantly, our staff members reflected the community 
we serve, with employees choosing to reside throughout 
the South West in a variety of places including, but not 
limited to, Binningup, Bunbury, Bridgetown, Donnybrook, 
and Margaret River.

The work and conduct of the Commission’s employees 
are guided by a number of policies. The policies are 
designed to ensure staff compliance with public sector 
standards and ethical codes, as well as promote 
inclusivity, health and safety, and work-life balance. More 
information on our policies can be found on page 106.

Structural capacity

Following minor restructures in 2013/14 and 2014/15 so 

that our operations aligned with the strategic priorities in 

the blueprint, we now have a well-balanced skill set that is 

helping us to achieve results for the region. We have once 

again demonstrated our continued capacity to deliver 

strategic outcomes on behalf of the State Government 

and the South West.

Worth highlighting has been the way staff members 

enthusiastically stepped up to fill positions – sometimes 

unrelated to their job role – while employees were on 

long-term leave. The State Government issued a freeze 

on external recruitment by the general government sector 

between December 2015 and June 30 2016.

Our chief executive officer, Don Punch, leaves the 

Commission on July 1 2016 after 18 years at the helm. 
The process to find a replacement has commenced. 
We hope to announce a new chief executive officer next 
financial year.

Going above and beyond

A number of staff members went above and beyond by 
volunteering to take on extra duties.  We would like to 
highlight the commitment made by the following people to 
keep their colleagues safe and healthy. 

•  Gayle Gray/Matthew Monisse – Fire warden

•  Susan Fitchat – Safety and health representative
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Professional development

To ensure we continue to serve the region as best as 

we can, we invest in the skills of our people. As a result, 

staff members were encouraged to take up professional 

development opportunities in order for them to stay 

up-to-date with industry trends and be well-equipped 

to contribute to creating a region of excellence. Over 

the course of the year, $38,883 was spent on learning 

and development. One staff member received study 

assistance towards completing a university course and 19 

employees underwent training courses or attended events 

or workshops for the purpose of building their knowledge 

and skills.

Supporting our community

We are firmly part of the community we work to improve 
and as such our employees happily volunteered to 
support local charities and fundraising efforts. Morning 
teas offering up baked goods helped to raise money 
for causes. For example, staff members raised funds 
in support of the RSPCA’S Cupcake Day and donated 
money towards the Lord Mayor’s distress relief fund for 
the Waroona/Yarloop and district fire.

In what has become a Christmas tradition among staff 
members at the Commission, employees donated a 
basket filled with non-perishable items to Foodbank. Items 
were used in Christmas hampers which were donated to 
local people in need.

Placements

We often open our doors to students and international 

visitors. By providing placements we hope to get the 

careers of the next generation of workers off to a solid 

start and give international visitors the opportunity to 

increase their knowledge about the region.

This year, we had the honour of helping to host two 

special visitors from Haiyan County in China. One of the 

visitors represented government and the other was from 

the private sector. The placement enabled the duo to 

gain a better understanding and identify opportunities for 

potential cooperation.

Communications 

This year, we introduced Instagram to complement the 

suite of Facebook pages we run for the purpose of 

informing people about our activities as well as events 

happening around the region. The Instagram page gives 

users a unique insider perspective by providing a behind-

the-scenes glimpse of SWDC.

We communicated about projects, events and funding 

opportunities to the public in a diverse range of 

ways, including through regular media releases and 

a monthly e-newsletter. We published a regular Major 

Projects publication to inform people about large-scale 

developments in the region, and released a Progress 

Indicators report, a statistical document offering insight 

into the state of the region.

To keep all staff informed and engaged in the 

Commission’s activities, we utilise a number of 

internal communications channels. To assist in internal 

communications, we published a weekly staff e-newsletter 
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Visitors Peter Dong and Brian Chen with Ray Philp from the Bunbury Chamber of Commerce  
and Industries and Don Punch from SWDC.
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which featured project news, as well as operational and 
human resources updates and reminders. Our daily in-
house media monitoring service served to keep staff up 
to date about projects and issues in the region, while our 
intranet once again proved an important resource that 

enabled staff to easily download forms and policies. 

Competitions

Calendars featuring the winning entries of our inaugural 
This South West Life photography competition were 
published in late 2015, in time for the 2016 new year. The 
calendars were very popular, including among people who 
wished to send copies overseas.

As a result of the success of this competition and 
calendar project, we ran the This South West Life 
photography competition again in 2015/16. Winners are 
due to be announced in early 2016/17 with the view to 
releasing the 2017 edition of the calendar by December 
2016. The calendar will once again be distributed free for 
the dual purpose of showcasing the winning photos and 
promoting the qualities of the region.

Shared responsibilities with other 
agencies

Like all development commissions in Western Australia, 
we use a shared corporate services provided by the 
Department of Regional Development. This website is 
a portal for all matters relating to corporate services 
including finance and human resources. We also run 
Royalties for Regions grants programs on behalf of the 
State Government.

We have a number of memorandums of understanding 
with other organisations for the purpose of progressing 

when a museum is set up in Manjimup to highlight the 
history of electricity in Western Australia – we look forward 
to the future attraction opening its doors.

In general, we are good when it comes to auditing matters 
and bookkeeping, but are always looking to improve. In 
the reporting year, records training was jointly provided 
to staff members in our office as well as those at the Peel 
Development Commission.

projects that stand to benefit the region. This year, for 

example, an MOU was signed for the purpose of a range 

of high-profile organisations coming together to shape 

Greater Bunbury’s future through the State Government’s 

Regional Centres Development Plan. The agreement 

was signed by the City of Bunbury, Shire of Capel, Shire 

of Dardanup, Shire of Harvey, South West Development 

Commission, LandCorp, Department of Planning and the 

Department of Regional Development.

Significant issues affecting the agency

As previously mentioned, there was a State Government 

freeze on recruitment. In recognition of the State 

Government's austerity measures, we were also 

conscious to limiting our spending on advertising and 

promotional materials. As a result, we were very stringent 

when it came to spending in this area, keeping our 

expenditure predominately to raising awareness of key 

funding opportunities and events where there was clear 

public benefit. Please see page 109 for details about 

advertising expenditure.

Auditing matters

Our one let-down last year was not having the former 

World of Energy collection, which was gifted to us by 

Western Power in 2009/10, stocktaked or revalued. This 

was due to the cost of removing the items – many of 

which are large in size and have heritage value − from 

secure storage. 

While it was not practical to have all the items stocktaked, 

we can report that this year we did get the collection 

valued. We paid $23,684.33 to consultants to find out the 

value of the collection. The plan is to transfer these items 

A photograph taken by Walpole resident Tim Gamblin of two 
children looking over Mandalay Beach towards Chatham Island 
was named Chairman's Choice by SWDC chairman Stuart Hicks in 
our inaugural photography competition. "The photo represents 
the great beauty and fabulous coastline of our less well-known 
south coast," Mr Hicks said. "And the two little girls are reminders 
of the importance of young families to our regional future."
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HOW WE PERFORMED

Each year, our performance is gauged through a client satisfaction survey. In 2015/16, we again engaged consultants 
Savant Surveys and Strategies to ask our clients to rate our effectiveness and quality of service. 

From 255 clients, 136 completed the questionnaire. This was an improved response rate of 53.33 per cent, compared to 
51.69 per cent the previous year. A snapshot of the survey results is published here.

A total of 92 per cent of respondents to our client survey said that the advice 
and assistance provided by us is relevant and beneficial.
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COMMUNITY 
CONSULTATION

PROVISION OF 
ADVICE

INFORMATION ABOUT 
THE REGION

PROJECT 
DEVELOPMENT

ORGANISATIONAL 
SUPPORT

PROMOTIONAL 
ASSISTANCE

COORDINATION AND 
FACILITATION

ADVOCACY 

What key clients and local 
government members said 
about us−at a glance:

 Given the rapid growth of the region and 
the demands on SWDC resources I think it's 
fair to say that any investment or support given 
will have a trickle-down effect on others who 
[are] maybe seeking support and funding for 
projects.

The South West Development Commission has 
a significant presence in the life of the South 
West. They support many events, conferences 
and information sessions. Their staff are involved 
in external community endeavours and therefore 
have a broad networking scope that they can 
draw from to assist other organisations and 
their projects. I have been very impressed and 
grateful for the Commission's involvement 
in my work. This has included: networking, 
funding, advice, guidance, encouragement and 
advocacy.

Your regional co-ordinators are very well 
informed of options and opportunities and are 
able to assist us in the inter connected nature of 
the region's development. Our recently funded 
project benefited hugely from SWDC staff insight 
and suggestions for further collaboration etc.
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Government performance framework 

Each year the South West Development Commission is required to meet a number of targets set by the State 
Government. These targets relate to Government-desired outcomes, services to be delivered and performance targets to 
be achieved. The agreement is a transparent way for the State Government to monitor the operational performance of the 
Commission.

Resource agreement

Financial targets
2015/16 

Budget Estimate1

2015/16 
Actual2 Variation

Total cost of services (ie. endorsed expense limit) $8,226,000 26,207,081 $17,981,081

Net cost of services (details in the Income 
Statement) 

$8,171,000 25,962,755 $17,791,755

Total equity (details in the Balance Sheet) $15,035,000 15,355,925 $320,925

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
(details in the Cash Flow Statement) 

(2,670,000) (2,340,825) ($329,175)

Full time equivalent (FTE) staff level 24 22 2

1. As specified in the budget statements for the year in question.

2. Includes Margaret River Main Street Redevelopment - $5,490,000 and Transforming Bunbury Waterfront (Stage 1) - $12,575,700

Key performance indicators
2015/16 
Target1

2015/16 
 Actual Variation

SERVICE: REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Key effectiveness indicator – Customer satisfaction 
survey

80% 90% 10%

Key efficiency indicator – Average cost per hour of 
service

$203 $223 $20

1. As specified in the budget statements for the year in question..
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ABOUT THE SOUTH WEST
Harvey Shire

Collie Shire

Capel
Shire

Boyup Brook Shire

Dardanup
Shire

City of Busselton

Nannup
Shire

Manjimup Shire

Donnybrook-
Balingup Shire

Bridgetown-   
Greenbushes Shire

Augusta-Margaret 
River Shire

• Harvey

• Collie
• Eaton

• Donnybrook
• Capel

• Bridgetown

• Boyup Brook

• Manjimup

• Margaret River  Nannup •

• Busselton

City of
Bunbury •

Warren Blackwood 
SUB-REGIONS 

Bunbury Wellington 
Vasse 

The South West is well-known for its natural beauty, 
attractive Mediterranean climate and fantastic lifestyle 
opportunities, but it also enjoys a diverse economy. No 
wonder it is such a popular place to live.

Fast-growing population 

The South West is already the most populated region in 
Western Australia outside the Perth metropolitan area – 
and the headcount is only going to get higher. Currently 
more than 176,949 people are residents of the South 
West. By 2026, 230,000 people are expected to live in 
the region. And by 2050, it is possible that as many as 
500,000 will call the South West home. The port city of 
Bunbury is the South West’s regional hub, and Busselton 
is the region’s second city. Many smaller towns offer 
attractive lifestyles throughout the region’s 12 local 
government areas.

A regional economic powerhouse 

The South West continues to boast a strong and diverse 
economy, generating an estimated $15.8billion during 
2014/15. The mining and construction sectors are the two 
largest industry sectors in the region. 

Our people 

South West residents are the happiest people in regional 
Western Australia. Residents also truly believe they 
have the best lifestyles outside the state’s metropolitan 
area, and enjoy a high sense of community. The Living 
in the Regions 2013 report, a survey of attitudes and 
perceptions about living in regional Western Australia, 
paints a positive picture of how people in the South West 
feel about residing in the region.

Social trends

• Over the past five years, the region grew at an 

average annual growth rate of 2.4 per cent, which is 

almost double the national rate. 

• Children aged 14 years and under make up 20.8 per 

cent of the South West population, compared to the 

national average of 18.8 per cent. 

• Over 65s comprise 15.3 per cent of the population, 

compared to the national average of 15.0 per cent. 

• The number of people in the region aged 65 years 

and over is expected to grow to 20.2 per cent of the 

South West population by 2026.

Economic trends

• The South West Gross Regional Product (GRP) was 

valued at $15.8 billion in 2014/15. This represented 

6.4 per cent of WA’s Gross State Product for that 

year.

• The South West’s unemployment rate stood at 4.5 

per cent, according to figures released for the March 

2016 quarter.

• The worldwide downturn of the coal industry has 

impacted on Collie.



The South West corner 
of Western Australia 
is a unique region 
located in a special 
part of the world.

Covers an area of 23,970 
square kilometres

Enjoys a Mediterranean 
climate

Comprises three sub regions

Has 12 local government 
areas

FAST 
FACTS

& 
FIGURES









Did you know?

∎ The South West is one of 34 biodiversity hotspots 
in the world

∎ The South West is Western Australia's most visited 
regional area

∎ The Cape Leeuwin Lighthouse is situated in the 
most south westerly tip of Australia, where the 
Indian and Southern oceans meet

∎ The South West is home to Australia’s only silicon 
producer
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The South West is a diverse and dynamic region, boasting a range of striking landscapes.
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STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Our strategic priorities
This section provides an overview of the key activities that have taken place in our strategic priority 

areas of Infrastructure, Industry and Business, People and Place, and Community. 

Though each of these areas is given their own portfolios on paper, in reality they are all interlinked. 
Industry and Place are linked, Community and Business are linked, and so on. Everything is connected 
and no strategic area alone can achieve liveability for our cities and towns without the other. 

In order to be able to live where we can enjoy high quality of life, we need jobs so that we can afford 
to live here in the first place – otherwise we would be forced to move elsewhere. And even if we could 
afford to live here because we are financially well off, we cannot enjoy complete wellbeing if we are not 
connected to our communities and have access to the right services. And so on. 

Each of our strategic priorities is important in delivering a liveable region that is a great place in which 
to live, work and invest.

Pictured: Actors Angourie Rice, Aaron L McGrath and Levi Miller in a scene from the film adaptation of the award-winning 
Craig Silvey novel Jasper Jones, which was filmed in the South West in 2015/16 and slated for release in 2017.
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INFRASTRUCTURE

We develop distance 
neutral infrastructure 
that is linked to world 
opportunities and respects 
our environment.

Challenge

More people are predicted to call the region home 
in the future. Therefore, there is an urgent need 
to ensure that our infrastructure provides a safe 
and appealing environment for people to live in, a 
productive environment in which to conduct business, 
and an environment which stimulates new industry 
opportunities.

Highlights

•  Funding is secured for the first two stages of the 
Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront project

•  Funding is secured for stage two of the Margaret River 
Perimeter Road

•  Molloy Island gets a mobile phone tower

Snapshot of what’s on the horizon for 
2016/17

•  Construction to get underway on stage one of the 
Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront project

• A regional NBN advisor offers support to locals in 
regards to the rollout of the NBN across the South 
West

• Airside construction to begin at the Busselton-
Margaret River Regional Airport

85
80

Scorecard – How our clients rated our 
performance

Progress on the Ferguson Valley Tourism Route is inspected by Gayle Gray from the South West Development Commission,  
Kris Bezemer from the Department of Parks and Wildlife, and Damien Morgan from the Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup.

Key Clients

Local Government
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In the not too distant future, the 

South West will be home to an 

international airport, expanded 

harbour and world-class 

waterfronts. And we’ll be proud 

to be able to look back and say 

that the important behind-the-

scenes work we did in 2015/16 

was crucial to these region-

shaping projects making the 

leap from paper to reality. 
Let us share with you how we played a significant role in 

carving a prosperous future for the South West through 

our efforts to develop gateway infrastructure projects.  

Once complete, these crucial projects are expected to 

open up new economic and social opportunities that 

further elevate our international profile, boost business 

and support our growing population.

Transport infrastructure

Building a road or an airport is more than just providing a 

pathway for getting from A to B. Transport infrastructure 

facilitates the movement of goods, services and people, 

opening up new markets for industry.

With this in mind, the region took steps in 2015/16 
towards expanding tourism and business opportunities 
through the development of the Busselton regional 
airport to cater for interstate and short-haul international 
air services, including freight. Having secured almost 
$60million in State Government funding towards the 
domestic stage of the project in 2014/15, we were 
delighted when the project progressed through a number 
of milestones including the renaming of the airport to the 
Busselton-Margaret River Regional Airport in recognition 
of the Margaret River region’s international brand. 

Other milestones for the airport included the 
establishment of a dedicated project management team, 
development of a project definition plan, undertaking of a 
tender qualifying process for the design and construction 
of airside infrastructure, and development of a draft airline 
engagement strategy. But the breakthrough – and most 
exciting – moment came when the Federal Government 
announced a pre-election funding commitment of 
$9.78million towards the infrastructure necessary for 
international flight operations to be carried out providing 
direct access to Asian markets such as Singapore, 
Indonesia and Malaysia. Through our role as chair of the 
governing committee, we look forward to construction 
getting underway on this game-changing, region-shaping 
project in late 2016.

Linked to the development of the Busselton-Margaret 
River Regional Airport were efforts to complete the 
Margaret River Perimeter Road in order to elevate the 
town’s appeal as an international tourism destination. 

It makes sense that if the region is going to have an 
international airport, the tourist town of Margaret River has 
a main street that is as safe and attractive as possible for 
visitors and locals. 

At the moment, Margaret River’s main street is a 
dedicated heavy haulage route, carrying an average of 
830 heavy vehicles through the town centre every day. 
But our joint efforts with Main Roads WA and the Shire of 
Augusta-Margaret River mean the town is closer to getting 
trucks off its main street and becoming more pedestrian-
friendly. Not only was the first stage of the bypass opened 
to traffic in May 2015 after receiving $2.5million from 
SWDC towards this venture, but in December 2015 our 
business case efforts with Main Roads WA and the Shire 
of Augusta-Margaret River also led to $58.26million in 
Royalties for Regions being announced for the second – 
and longest – phase of the road. Stage two is expected 
to begin in early 2017, and once complete will allow 
for enhancements to the main street to go ahead. The 
upgrades are expected to improve safety for people 
accessing the town centre, as well as increase the 
attractiveness of the town centre.

Another tourism-related transport infrastructure project 
that made headway in the reporting year was the Pile-
Mungalup Road. Also known as the Ferguson Valley 
Tourism Route, the initiative involves sealing and 
upgrading of the remaining 3.73 kilometre gravel section 
of the road to provide better linkages between the 
Ferguson Valley and Wellington National Park recreational 
and tourism destinations, as well as provide an alternative 
route between Bunbury and Collie. This year, the first 
road sealing was completed, line-marking carried out, 



31

and safety barriers installed. A second sealing and line-
marking will be carried out next financial year. The project 
is on track to finish in mid-2017, providing improved 
access, safety and travel time.

Also moving ahead was a Royalties for Regions-aided 
investigation into the options for potentially rerouting 
part of the Preston River in order to facilitate the further 
expansion of the Bunbury Port. The Southern Ports 
Authority progressed to the final stages of the engineering 
design of the realignment study. The provisional study 
provides an understanding of the requirements needed 
to unlock the inner harbour landholdings for future port 
developments, and is subject to further development and 
stakeholder revision to achieve construction status.

Telecommunications infrastructure

Like never before, we are seeing new opportunities for 
growth in the South West as advances in technology 
make it increasingly easier for people to work from the 
lifestyle cities and towns of their choice. Our job at the 
South West Development Commission is to take full 
advantage of this potential by ensuring the region is 
connected as much as possible to modern, high-capacity 
digital telecommunications. By doing so, we will build 
the region’s competitive edge, foster innovation, support 
productivity and encourage creativity – all essentials 
for success in the new digital economy and nurturing 
developing sectors such as the creative industries.

To meet this end, we have continued to back the rollout 
of the National Broadband Network in the South West. 
For example, we have established a partnership with a 
number of organisations to create a regional NBN advisor 

position for the purpose of providing information to assist 
businesses and organisations in making the switch to 
faster internet. A key component of the service will be the 
provision of impartial advice to assist people in making 
their own choices in regards to which service best meets 
their requirements.

Building on the work we did previously to create a free 
wi-fi service in Bunbury’s central business district, this 
year we similarly supported the Margaret River Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry to set up a complimentary wi-fi 
along its main street. Linked to this, an online shopping 
portal was launched, presenting local businesses with 
new e-commerce opportunities. Since the launch in 
August 2015, the service has been used hundreds of 
thousands of times.

Excitingly, we have made vital strides in our mission 
to improve mobile phone coverage in the region by 
substantially reducing the number of black spots in the 
South West. With Molloy Island the latest in a long-list to 
be enjoying improved connectivity, we can now report that 
the majority of locations listed in our blueprint as priority 
places for mobile coverage have been checked off. We 
are thrilled that our work in this area has elevated the 
region’s competitive edge, improved safety and aided the 
delivery of emergency services.

Coordinating infrastructure

We have once again worked to bring different 
organisations together for the purpose of encouraging 
a coordinated approach to infrastructure development 
in the region. One mechanism we employed to do this 
was through our continued facilitation of the South West 
Infrastructure Group, which aims to gain efficiencies in 

Leading Australian demographer Bernard 
Salt has identified a number of South West 
locations that are forecast to benefit from 
an e-change movement where people move 
to a lifestyle town and maintain their job 
by telecommuting. 

OUR STRATEGIC 
PRIORITIES INFRASTRUCTURE INDUSTRY AND 

BUSINESS
PEOPLE AND 

PLACE COMMUNITY

FAST 
FACT

infrastructure provision for the State Government.  
Another example is through our Regional Headworks 
Cross Agency Working Group, which has contributed to 
the coordination of infrastructure in the South West.
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It’s almost hard to believe that a city like Bunbury has 

major parcels of prime waterfront land that are not only 

underdeveloped but underused. But that's changing...

Cities and towns throughout the South West have many 
strengths, from the coastal locations of our cities to 
the lifestyle options afforded by the region’s smaller 
communities.  But without the right infrastructure in 
place to build on these competitive advantages they are 
less likely to reach their economic and social potential. If 
opportunities for growth and prosperity aren’t maximised, 
the South West risks being left behind as the world 
transforms to meet 21st century needs and expectations.

As part of our efforts to set the regional capital of Bunbury 
up for a bright future, we once again pressed ahead with 
delivering key community infrastructure projects. A large 
focus for us during the financial year was the coordination 
of an ambitious plan to breathe new life into Bunbury’s 
waterfront by turning underused spaces into thriving, 
vibrant places. 

The journey this project took in 2015/16 has been a 
memorable and truly worthwhile one, which culminated in 
the securing of State Government funding.

In October 2015, the committee we coordinated to 
oversee planning of the project released concept plans 

to support the Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront vision, 

which proposes three stages:

1. Revitalisation of Koombana Bay foreshore and 

redevelopment of the Dolphin Discovery Centre

2. Enhancement and integration of two key locations: 

Casuarina Drive, including BP Beach and the 

foreshore, and Jetty Road causeway

3. Transformation of Casuarina Boat Harbour through 

the creation of a marina and marine industry facilities

More than 200 people attended a meeting at the Bunbury 

Regional Entertainment Centre on October 1 2015 to 

be among the first to hear what was envisioned for the 
city’s shorelines and marine facilities. This launched a 
public consultation period in which people were invited 
to give feedback on the vision by completing a survey or 
feedback form. Of about 170 responses received, 95 per 
cent indicated approval for the overall concept that was 
presented.

The generally positive nature of the responses meant that 
the committee was confident it was on the right track. 
As such, work on the project – including progressing the 
business case through the approval process – continued.

Notable components of the project which took place 

PROJECT IN FOCUS
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An artist’s impression reveals what the Koombana Bay foreshore could look like once it is revitalised  
as part of the first stage of the Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront project.

Paving the way to 
transform Bunbury’s 
waterfront



SWDC Annual Report 2015/16 33

in 2015/16 included the environmental assessment for 

the project. A study to investigate water movement at 

Casuarina Boat Harbour was carried out to assist in future 

marine planning decisions. This involved a safe, non-toxic, 

non-staining red dye being released into the harbour. Data 

obtained through the Department of Transport study was 

intended to verify computer modelling that will be used to 

determine the best development options for the harbour 

as the Transforming Bunbury’s Waterfront initiative 

progresses.

From the release of concepts for public comment to the 

undertaking of a study to investigate water movement, 

we were pleased with the pace at which the Transforming 

Bunbury’s Waterfront project moved forward over the past 

12 months. 

All the hard work to advance the project paid off when the 

State Government allocated $24.9 million towards stage 

one of the project and $20.73 million for stage two.

Thanks to the significant investment of State funds, 

we can expect to see construction beginning on both 

the revitalisation of the Koombana Bay foreshore and 

redevelopment of the Dolphin Discovery Centre in the new 

financial year.

By improving the city’s shorelines for community use 

and providing the infrastructure necessary to stimulate 

the growth of the local marine and tourism industries, 

it is envisioned Bunbury will be further revitalised and 

its appeal as an attractive place to live, work and invest 

greatly enhanced. 

In much the same way as the redevelopment of old 

industrial land into thriving residential and hospitality 

precincts at Marlston Hill and Marlston Waterfront 

positively changed Bunbury and people’s perceptions of 

it, this game-changing project is expected to afford the 

city a similar leap forward. 
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INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS

We work to support a 
broad internationally-
engaged industry base 
that is business ready and 
Asia capable.

Challenge

With up to 200,000 new jobs required to support a 

possible population of 500,000 in 2050, the pressure 

is on to generate new and diverse employment 

opportunities.

Highlights

•  A South West Focus conference is held

•  The Film South West website is launched 

•  The South West Community Events Program provides a 
record amount of funding in support of local events

• Jasper Jones is filmed in Pemberton

• Support is given to the dairy and potato industries

Snapshot of what’s on the horizon for 
2016/17

•  Release an action plan that identifies opportunities for 
growing and diversifying Collie’s economic base 

• Launch the First Class in a Glass campaign in 
Singapore to promote the Margaret River region

•  Secure funding to upgrade the Capes lighthouse 
precincts

83
72

Scorecard – How our clients rated our 
performance

 

Key Clients

Local Government

This year we once again supported the Emergence Creative Festival, an event which gives attendees 
access to creative minds from around the world and acts as a showcase of local creative talent.
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It is clear that as the world 

evolves, so must the South 

West. In order for the region’s 

economy to remain strong and 

to generate new jobs to meet 

the demands of a growing 

population, we must adapt and 

be innovative.

This year, we have been very active in making the forces 
shaping our world work in our favour as we endeavoured 
to generate jobs and strengthen the region’s economy. For 
example, in recognition of the shift of the global economic 
centre towards Asia, the trade arm of our organisation has 
this year increasingly looked beyond our borders to target 
growth markets in China, Singapore and Vietnam. And, 
in light of the slow-down of the coal industry, we have 
endeavoured to strengthen Collie's resilience by working 
to diversify its economy. 

Responding to challenges facing industry

In 2015/16, our region experienced circumstances 
that negatively impacted on local industry, causing 
apprehension for workers and business owners. In our 
capacity as a regional development commission, we 
worked hard to find solutions to these issues for the 
purpose of safeguarding prosperity for the region and its 

residents.

An area of significant concentration for us was broadening 
the economic base of the West Australian coal mining 
centre of Collie. With the local coal industry in the midst 
of a downturn that affected industry and jobs, it became 
clear that Collie’s economy needed to adapt in order for 
the town not only to survive but to thrive. Consequently, 
we partnered with the Shire of Collie to establish the Collie 
Economic Development Taskforce for the purpose of 
investigating ways to build on Collie’s strengths in order 
for the town to reach its economic potential.  Community 
consultation, studies and economic scenario planning 
were all carried out with the view to informing the creation 
of an economic action plan that will identify options 
for stimulating fresh investment and generating job 
opportunities. While we expect coal to continue playing 
a role in Collie’s future, we anticipate the action plan will 
highlight opportunities for the town to reinvent itself – 
similar to Manjimup’s recent metamorphosis from a timber 
town to a high-profile food bowl and culinary tourism 
destination – when it is released next financial year. 

Also requiring our assistance to bounce back after 
going through a challenging period were businesses in 
the Geographe region following the Waroona-Yarloop 
bushfires. Just as we provided financial assistance to 
visitor centres in Northcliffe-Nornalup and Walpole after 
fire swept through the district in 2014/15, this year we 
teamed up with Australia’s South West to put a plan into 
action to support tourism recovery in the Geographe 
region by highlighting it as open for business. As a 
result, the Take the Loop campaign was rolled out to 
increase visitation into the affected district from the state’s 
metropolitan area. This involved publicising a self-drive 

route via the South Western Highway into the Geographe 
region and returning via the coastal areas of Bunbury 
and Mandurah. The high-profile campaign was delivered 
across a number of platforms including web, print and 
radio. It is estimated to have reached more than two 
million people.

Building capability, encouraging 
excellence

In the reporting year, we steered and supported various 
initiatives aimed at enhancing the capability of South 
West businesses and industries. This involved building 
knowledge, encouraging innovation and championing 
excellence with the intention of growing the region’s 
competitive edge.

Our commitment to ensuring local businesses and 
industries are positioned for success in the future saw us 
partner with a range of organisations to stage a two-
day South West Focus conference in July 2015. With an 
emphasis on the projects underscored in the South West 
Regional Blueprint, the event aimed to give the more than 
250 people who attended the chance to explore the future 
of the region and the opportunities people may be able 
to tap into in the years ahead. Guest speakers such as 
TripAdvisor representative Jessica Quinlan, Austrade state 
director Michael Carter and economics commentator 
Michael Pascoe got people thinking about the future of 
the South West and how they might be able to angle 
their business or organisation to take advantage of the 
opportunities that come with growth. 

A sundowner held after the South West conference 
showcased both food from the region and the skills 
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of future food and hospitality workers. A partnership 
between the Southern Forests Food Council and the 
South West Institute of Technology saw the future food 
and hospitality workers serve up finger food featuring 
produce from the Southern Forests. 

Mini off-shoots of the South West Focus conference 
were held later in 2015/16 and these included briefings 
on the timber industry and the Busselton-Margaret River 
Regional Airport development.

Another manner in which we positioned businesses for 
success was through partnering with Austrade to hold an 
e-commerce seminar on how to sell online to China. The 
event gave people the opportunity to hear first-hand from 
experts about the opportunities for local businesses to 
sell directly to consumers in China and how the signing of 
the China-Australia Free Trade Agreement smoothed the 
pathway.

To encourage excellence within industry which hopefully 
translates to increasing visitation as word gets about 
the region’s quality businesses, attractions and services, 
we supported the 2016 South West Small Business 
Awards. In addition to performing a judging role, we also 
supported the tourism award which was this year claimed 
by Harvey Cheese.

We have continued to assume a leadership role in the 
region, providing advice to steer initiatives forward 
through our role on committees and boards as well as 
providing a helping hand to industry organisations. The 
breath of our contribution in this area has ranged from 
developing new projects and identifying opportunities for 
growth. By way of example, we have played a role in the 
State Government’s Seizing the Opportunity initiative. 

The program aims to prepare the agricultural sector to 
take advantage of rising global demand, contributing to 
strengthening communities where agriculture is a major 
economic activity. Our contribution has encompassed 
the Water for Food projects in Myalup-Wellington and the 
Southern Forests. 

Other examples of where our helping hand has stretched 
include being part of the Manjimup Agriculture Expansion 
Project, South West Employer Reference Group, and 
the Busselton-Margaret River Regional Airport tourism 
committee.

Nurturing growth industries

In recognition of the potential for the South West’s diverse 
industry sectors to expand and provide new career 
options for locals, we continued with our efforts to nurture 
the region’s growth industries. 

Once again, we directed energy into cultivating the 
region’s burgeoning creative industries for the purpose 
of advancing our mission to triple the sector’s job base 
from 1000 to 3000 by 2050. In doing so, we placed a 
strong emphasis on nurturing the region’s developing film 
industry with the aim of stimulating job creation through 
local procurement, skill development and tourism. In 
building on the emerging local film industry we helped 
kick-start in 2011 by supporting the shooting of Drift in 
the Nannup and Margaret River regions, this year we 
backed the making of the film adaptation of the critically 
and popularly acclaimed novel Jasper Jones in the 
Southern Forests. 

In addition, we launched the new Film South West 
website as an online resource that aims to make it easier 

for creative professionals to find the perfect shooting 

location and resources for their next project. This, 

combined with the introduction of the $16million Royalties 

for Regions-funded Western Australian Regional Film 

Fund, is expected to gift the region with even more of 

a competitive advantage when it comes to attracting 

commercial productions.

We can report that the rise in profile of CinefestOZ  

as Australia’s premiere destination film festival has also 

elevated the South West’s reputation in the film world. The 

most recent event not only boasted a $100,000 film prize 

but also attracted more than 110 film industry guests and 

stars, with actor Hugo Weaving inducted as the 2015 

CinefestOZ Screen Legend and Australian director and 

actor David Wenham chairing an independent jury which 

judged the feature films vying for the film prize. Since 

CinefestOZ began in 2008, its attendance has grown from 

1,898 to 23,656.

As an off-shoot of CinesfestOZ, the first China 

Australia Film Collaboration Event was held in Bunbury. 

The intention of the forum was to develop mutual 

understandings of each country’s film industry and 

investigate the development of film co-production 

opportunities. The two-day event, which included expert 

panels and key speakers, is expected to lead to future 

collaboration on film projects.

Worth mentioning is that a short film made by students 

at Manea Senior College that was funded by one of our 

Royalties for Regions grants made its debut at the festival. 

This gave potential future creatives their first experience of 

working in the industry, potentially inspiring some of them 

to undertake a career in the creative arts. 
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Another way in which we helped to guide the 

development of the local creative sector was through 

our continued support of the Creative Corner, which we 

originally formed as a way to bring creatives together and 

collaborate on business opportunities. 

The group has since grown into an organisation in its own 

right and in 2015/16 we supported the establishment of 

a creative innovation hub at the Margaret River Education 

Campus. The hub provides a productive space for 

creative professionals to meet up and collaborate, and 

also serves as the base for the Creative Corner. 

The Creative Corner again staged the Emergence Creative 

Festival, an annual event which has assisted in cementing 

Margaret River’s standing as a creative playground.

In addition to the creative sector, we also worked to grow 

the agricultural industry at a time when Asia’s increasing 

appetite for fresh, safe and clean premium products 

presented the South West with new opportunities to tap 

into. 

For instance, we looked at opportunities for facilitating 

export opportunities for producers through a possible 

future freight service at the expanded Busselton-Margaret 

River Regional Airport, supported a dairy innovation day, 

carried out investigations in the beef and cattle industries, 

and worked with key growers in the hemp industry to 

assist in developing an association.

Building tourism and events

With the intention of setting the scene for further 

investment in the region, we provided assistance to 

initiatives designed to attract more visitors to the South 
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West, entice visitors to stay longer in the region and 

spend more during their stay.

A big win for the Commission in this area of our work 

was attaining funding to support Busselton’s continued 

transformation into a world-class holiday destination. 

A total of $4.5million in Royalties for Regions funding 

will assist in readying the foreshore to deliver quality 

beachfront accommodation and tourism experiences. 

It's expected the $10.5million foreshore redevelopment 

will create an attractive investment proposition for private 

hotel developers. The project will include the development 

of three sites for tourist accommodation, the foreshore 

parade and extra parking spaces to accommodate the 

increase in visitors to the area. It’s envisioned that council 

will soon endorse proposals from developers to advance 

construction of high end short stay accommodation 

on two of the three sites earmarked for tourist 

accommodation. 

Visitation to the region will also be supported with the 

$59.7million Busselton-Margaret River Regional Airport 

development project that will improve accessibility to the 

South West. Planned upgrades to Margaret River’s main 

street – which will incorporate al fresco dining areas and 

public artworks – will help to create a vibrant town heart 

that will further cement Margaret River’s standing as an 

international tourism destination. We are anticipating 

an announcement of State Government funds for the 

development of Capes lighthouse precincts to be made 

in early 2016/17, providing another boon for the local 

tourism industry. 

In our commitment to strengthening regional tourism, 

we were involved in a number of initiatives including 

the development of a tourism strategy for the Bunbury-
Wellington-Boyup Brook area. Other examples include 
marketing the region as a cruise ship destination, 
supporting the development of a new tourist organisation 
in the Warren-Blackwood region, and continuing to 
facilitate the popular Working Life Heritage Trail. 

We supported events development for the purpose of 
raising the profile of the South West, attracting people 
to the region and delivering economic boosts to the 
communities in which they held. Through our annual 
South West Community Events Program, we delivered 
record funding of $143,000 – up $32,250 from the 
previous round – to 57 festivals, cultural celebrations and 
sporting contests, both new and established. Funding 
recipients included a street art festival, multicultural 
evening, and international test hockey matches in 
Bunbury between the Hockeyroos and Great Britain. 

What’s more, we extended our helping hand outside the 

Collie is home to some of the South West’s 
biggest employers and generates 12 per 
cent of the region’s economy.

FAST 
FACT
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program to assist larger events such as the high-profile 
Margaret River Gourmet Escape through our sponsorship 
of the Kambarang – South West Aboriginal Gourmet 
Experience satellite event. And we helped raise Bunbury’s 
profile as a conference destination through our support of 
national events such as the Australian Indigenous Tourism 
Conference.

Fostering trade and investment

To uncork new market opportunities for South West 
businesses we have aimed to foster trade and investment 
in the region through our trade program. Our tactics in 
this area of our work have involved linking businesses with 
potential opportunities.

A highlight of our trade activities was being part of 
the Legislative Council Delegation to Singapore and 
Vietnam in April 2016. The Singapore portion of the trade 
mission incorporated a networking dinner attended by 
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Singaporean business people with Western interests and 

Western Australians working in the Lion City. The major 

focus of the Vietnam leg of the trip for us was the Taste of 

Australia events where the South West was promoted.

In the course of our work, we hosted delegations to 

the region with the view to connecting businesses with 

potential export opportunities. In June 2016, for example, 

we were involved in setting the itinerary for a delegation 

from China that was in the South West as part of the 

Australia–China Agricultural Cooperation Agreement. The 

government officials and private investors stopped in 

the Bunbury, Margaret River and Manjimup areas during 

their time in the region. They were shown a number of 

businesses with the view to highlighting the strengths of 

the region, supply chain complexities and commercial 

investment opportunities.

You can read more about the efforts of our TradeStart 

team, including its new partnership with the Margaret 

River Busselton Tourism Association, on page 39.

Moreover, we continued to be the base for the Bunbury-
Jiaxing Business Office, which enjoyed another significant 
year with a high number of businesses and organisations 
approaching the liaison officer for both free advice and 
paid services. The Mandarin language course again 
proved popular, and an exchange brought both a 
government and private sector representative to the South 
West to explore opportunities in the region.

Left: A creative innovation hub opened its doors in Margaret River.  
Below: The South West Focus conference attracted hundreds of people to the Bunbury Regional Entertainment Centre.
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China-based Wine Australia representative Willa Yang, with SWDC’s Simon Taylor, Edwin Zhuang from the  
Bunbury-Jiaxing Business Office and SWDC’s Mat Lewis at a trade sampling event in the Margaret River region.
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Don’t be surprised if you find more Margaret River wine 

being served overseas in the future. Not to mention 

interest in the region as a quality culinary tourism 

destination growing.

Thanks to a new partnership formed this financial year 
between us and the Margaret River Busselton Tourism 
Association, the South West is now better placed 
than ever to promote what the region has to offer to 
international markets.

In the reporting year, we announced a joint initiative to 
develop and implement a strategy to identify opportunities 
whereby the tourism, wine and food industries can use 
their synergies to work together to achieve greater results 
for the Margaret River region. 

As a result, we jointly carried out a number of initiatives 
aimed at increasing visitation for food and wine related 
tourism and bolstering food and wine exports from the 
region.

Case in point: Showcase events we held in Singapore 
in August 2015. This presented local winemakers and 
export sales managers from the Margaret River region 

PROJECT IN FOCUS

New partnership to 
assist in selling the 
region to the world

with a golden opportunity to foster Singaporean business 
connections face-to-face. This proved valuable exposure 
for businesses from the Margaret River region, as well as 
the opportunity to firm up business partnerships. 

In an effort to continue targeting the potentially lucrative 
Singaporean market, plans are well advanced to launch 
our inaugural First Class In A Glass campaign in the South 
East Asian city-state in October 2016. This will be billed 
as the biggest ever promotion of the Margaret River region 
in the Red Dot, Australia’s fifth largest trading partner.

In 2015/16, we also provided local producers with 
opportunities to meet with influential trade and media 
representatives visiting the region from overseas. For 
instance, we were involved with hosting three separate 
groups against the backdrop of the Margaret River 
Gourmet Escape in November 2015. Importers from 
Singapore and Indonesia searched the South West 
for new products to add to their portfolios. And a 
Wine Australia delegation of hospitality and media 
representatives sampled their way through the Margaret 

River region while following an itinerary that included a 

tasting event at Caves House.

In March 2016, the Commission and tourism association 

teamed up with Wine Australia to host a visit to the 

South West by a group of wine trade, education and 

media representatives from Asia. The delegates – from 

Singapore, Hong Kong, South Korea, Taiwan and China 

– spent three days exploring wineries in the Margaret 

River region. A major industry sampling session at Willy 

Bay Resort saw the group have the opportunity to taste 

products from Margaret River and the wider South West.

And in June 2016, Wine Australia brought out a group of 

retailers, trade and media representatives from the United 

States who we hosted in the region. The delegates were 

particularly interested in meeting with producers currently 

in the market or who had plans to re-enter the market. 

The objective of this tour was to reinforce the diversity 

and strength of Australia’s wine offerings and ultimately 

achieve distribution of new brands into the US market.
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We seek to develop a 
region of first choice, 
building population and 
improving amenity.

Challenge

Offering amenity and lifestyle opportunities for 

people at every stage of life is critical in supporting 

the growth of the region’s population to a possible 

500,000 people by 2050.

Highlights

•  Stage one of the SuperTowns programs in Collie, 
Manjimup and Margaret River are completed

•  The South West Affordable Housing Strategy is formally 
endorsed

•  A local area plan for the Bunbury suburb of Withers is 

completed

Snapshot of what’s on the horizon for 
2016/17

•  The release of a strategy to drive growth and 
prosperity in Greater Bunbury as part of the Regional 
Centres Development Plan

•  The completion of new units for seniors in Pemberton 
and Northcliffe

•  The development of priorities listed in the South West 
Affordable Housing Strategy

88
84

Scorecard – How our clients rated our 
performance

About 12,300 attended the 2016 Boyup Brook Country Music Festival, which was sponsored by SWDC.

Key Clients

Local Government
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Connecting people and place 

remained a top priority for us 

in 2015/16 as we strived to 

enhance the liveability of our 

cities and towns for the purpose 

of both attracting and retaining 

residents. 

We are pleased to say that our focus in this area delivered 
favourable results, with a number of initiatives either 
completed or underway that aim to boost the appeal of 
local towns and cities. 

From fostering more age-friendly communities to building 
communities of first choice, we were kept busy creating 
places that people of all ages choose to live in.

Communities for life

With a growing and ageing population, one of the big 
challenges confronting the South West is the lack of 
affordable and appropriate housing for seniors in the 
region’s smaller communities. Without accommodation 
that meets the needs of older residents, people in their 
retirement years are faced with the choice of living in 
increasingly unsuitable housing or uprooting from the 
communities they call home – away from family, friends 
and the places they feel connected to – to a city or bigger 
town. 

In addressing this issue, we have been working hard 

to create communities where people are able to age in 

place through the provision of suitable housing options 

that meet the needs of seniors. We are delighted that our 

efforts in this area tracked well in 2015/16, with new units 

taking shape around the region that will in the years ahead 

enable people to stay longer in the communities of their 

choice and continue enjoying their established support 

networks.

In Northcliffe, construction was well underway on four 

new units at an existing five-unit retirement village. Over in 

Pemberton, works began on expanding an existing village 

by three units as well as carrying out the site works and 

headworks necessary to support the development of a 

further eight units. Both projects, which have been made 

possible with $1.2million and $1.3million in Royalties 

for Regions funding respectively, are expected to be 

completed next financial year to meet demand for new 

housing options in the lower South West.

Meanwhile, planning was well advanced for the first stage 

of the South West Ageing in Place Housing Pilot which 

will result in a total of 26 new and refurbished units at 

Boyanup and Dardanup. With the assistance of more than 

$4.8million in Royalties for Regions funding, construction 

was set to officially get underway in August 2016, with 

both developments due for completion in mid-late 2017. 

Once complete, 12 of the 26 units will be sold and the 

money reinvested to build more housing in the South 

West as part of the second stage of the project. This 

project builds on our work with Access Housing, which 

began with developing a complex in Capel in 2013/14.

A plan to add 60 high care and dedicated dementia 

beds to Harvey’s Hocart Lodge also advanced. Designs 

were showcased to the community, tenders to carry out 

construction were advertised, and work commenced on 

sewer diversion in preparation for building the new facility. 

It is anticipated construction will commence in late August 

2016, with the project finished in March 2018.

In addition, we provided a Royalties for Regions 

Community Chest Fund grant to Geegeelup Village in 

Bridgetown for a pathway project, as well to the Shire 

of Donnybrook-Balingup for the Bridge Street Affordable 

Housing Project. We also continued to back planning of 

the Manjimup Seniors Living Project, which will offer a mix 

of rental and ownership opportunities for locals.

As well as pursuing opportunities to increase the stock of 

suitable housing options for the region’s older residents, 

another approach we adopted in our quest to create an 

age-friendly region was supporting efforts for seniors to 

remain independent in their existing homes. For example, 

we partnered with the Greenbushes Community Resource 

Centre to set up the Supporting Our Seniors initiative. 

The program is designed to enable the coordination and 

delivery of low-fee handyman and gardening services that 

allow people to remain in their own homes longer. The 

service will also aim to match clients with volunteers who 

have relevant skills.

What’s more, we have continued championing the 

importance of creating age-friendly communities. 

Following the release of the South West Active Ageing 

Research Project in 2010, we are pleased to report 

almost every local government in the South West has 

now completed a study to assist with planning in a range 

of areas including care support services, community 
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facilities, outdoor spaces and transport. In the reporting 

year, progress was made on the last two studies with 

Greater Bunbury carrying out a study, and Collie’s getting 

underway.

Linked to our work in building age-friendly communities, 

but taking into consideration the needs of the wider 

population, were our attempts to ensure the region 

remains an affordable place for a range of demographic 

groups to live. To guide our work in this area, the South 

West Affordable Housing Strategy was formally endorsed 

and a number of priorities in the plan were in the process 

of being implemented. The first to be completed was 

a housing-themed conference, which was staged in 

Bunbury in April under the banner of our Critical Horizons 

think tank series. For more information on this event, see 

page 44.

Building communities of first choice

Day after day, one of our important tasks at the 

Commission has been to facilitate the creation of 

communities that people choose to live in because of the 

high standard of living, amenity and lifestyle opportunities 

on offer. In doing so, we aim to provide highly liveable 

places for residents and also offer an attractive alternative 

to residing in the Perth metropolitan area. In the reporting 

year, we worked with stakeholders to breathe new life into 

suburbs, towns and cities – with clear results.

After years of planning and work, we are pleased that 

the region’s three SuperTowns of Collie, Manjimup and 

Margaret River have completed their major stage one 

projects. The transformations that have taken place 

in each town have been truly remarkable. Collie has 

enhanced its appeal as a family-friendly place to live 
with new features such as an art gallery and skate park. 
Manjimup is enjoying a new lease on life as a food bowl 
and culinary tourism destination, with a highlight being the 
way the Genuinely Southern Forests brand is promoting 
local producers and the region in general. And Margaret 
River has built on its appeal as an international surfing and 
tourism destination through projects such as the upgrade 
of Surfer’s Point and the construction of a perimeter road 
to reduce heavy traffic on its main street. 

In 2015/16, standout moments for the SuperTowns 
included the completion of an early learning centre and 
stage one of Central Park in Collie. Then there was the 
announcement of funding for Margaret River’s perimeter 
road and main street upgrade. And in Manjimup there 
was improved access to its town centre, the opening 
of a giant slide at the timber and heritage park, and the 
commencement of design work on its recreational park. 

Each SuperTown is now working on second generation 
projects that will set them up for a prosperous future. 
For Collie, this means working to redefine its economic 
base. For Manjimup, the focus is on the renewal of its 
town centre. And in Margaret River, attention has turned 
to completion of the perimeter road and upgrading the 
town’s main street.

With the development of regional hubs through the 
SuperTowns project well advanced, efforts got underway 
to create a growth plan for the regional centre of Greater 
Bunbury. Under the Regional Centres Development Plan, 
public consultation and planning was carried out with the 
aim of creating a strategy to help Greater Bunbury reach 
its economic potential and create a flourishing community 
that is highly attractive to external investors. 

As part of the Regional Centres Development Plan 
process, a Futures Forum was held for the purpose 
of generating ideas for securing Greater Bunbury as 
a vibrant and engaged 21st century city and region. It 
also served to motivate people to get involved in making 
Greater Bunbury even greater. Once the plan is released 
next financial year, we hope to build on the positive 
energy already in the city and region to grow the social 
and economic depth of Greater Bunbury over the coming 
years and decades.

Also in Greater Bunbury, a milestone was reached in 
efforts to make the region more cycle-friendly. The 
Greater Bunbury Bicycle Master Plan Working Group 
we coordinate was responsible for getting the wheels 
in motion for a shared path to be constructed near the 
western side of the busy Bussell Highway. The group 
secured funding from the Department of Transport, City 
of Bunbury and the Shire of Capel to enable the 1.6 
kilometre link from Washington Avenue to just south 
of Centenary Road to go ahead. The Bussell Highway 
shared path is one of a number identified in the Greater 
Bunbury Regional Bicycle Master Plan, which was created 
in 2012 to guide the development of cycle infrastructure 
in the region. The master plan is the result of an initiative 
by the Commission and has been endorsed by the City of 
Bunbury and the Capel, Dardanup and Harvey shires. 

In the regional capital of Bunbury, efforts to enhance the 
disadvantaged suburb of Withers continued to breathe 
new life into the neighbourhood. Building on work 
previously carried out in Withers through the Withers 
Urban Renewal Strategy, Des Ugle Park became a more 
attractive place for families to spend time in thanks to 
reticulation and the installation of new lawn. A local area 
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plan for Withers was developed which will guide future 

planning in regards to redevelopment sites, land use, 

road and pathway networks, and infrastructure services. 

Excitingly, it is expected to lead to the rollout of more 

significant renewal strategies in Withers to replace older 

housing stock and develop a more contemporary mix of 

housing and urban form.

Other projects we supported included the upgrading 

of the Collie Mineworkers Memorial Pool complex, 

which was reopened in October 2015. The $3.6million 

refurbishment included a new 50 metre pool, new 

plant buildings and construction of a children’s leisure 

pool. While not related to Collie’s SuperTown project, 

the revamped swimming pool has added to the town’s 

appeal as a place to live. It not only provides a venue for 

swimming and swimming lessons, but also a place to 

bring the community together. And one of our Community 

Chest Fund grants enabled the Margaret River Community 

Resource Centre to expand its child care service to meet 
demand, providing options for more local families.

Fostering a sense of place

Our efforts to connect people and place weren’t solely 
focused on planning for the future and creating new and 
improved facilities. We were also conscious of nurturing a 
sense of place and forging identity. For these purposes, 
we championed efforts to preserve the story of the region. 
In meeting this end, we once again facilitated the Working 
Life Heritage Trail – a link of attractions around the region 
which offer a window into how the South West was 
shaped – and we are pleased to report the trail grew in 
2015/16. Examples of new sites include the Donnybrook 
Railway Museum and Balingup Heritage Precinct. 
Heartbreakingly, one of the trail’s sites – the Yarloop 
Workshops – was destroyed when a bushfire swept 
through the historic town in January 2016.

 The new Collie Early Education centre is one of a number of recent initiatives 
carried out through the SuperTowns program that have made Collie more family-friendly.

FAST 
FACT
Through stage two of Manjimup’s town 
centre revitalisation plan, the Manjimup 
Timber and Heritage Park is set to be 
transformed into a multi-purpose attraction 
including conference and function 
facilities, indigenous exhibition areas, a 
community garden, recreation facilities and 
cultural display areas. It is already home to 
a popular children’s playground featuring a 
12 metre high slide.
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At the South West Development Commission, we are fond 

of saying that we are “working on tomorrow, today.” But 

the reality is that we don’t have a crystal ball and there are 

forces that will sometimes take us as a region by surprise. 

All we can do is be as prepared for them as possible 

and that means paying attention to the megatrends and 

global shifts shaping our world. That’s where our Critical 

Horizons future thinking series comes in. The events 

give people a chance to find out what might be on the 

horizon and then prepare to tackle challenges and take up 

opportunities that might come their way in the future.

In the reporting year, it became clear that meeting the 

housing demands of the South West – already the most 

populated region in the state outside of Perth – was going 

to become of increasing importance as the population 

expands. In order for the region to remain an attractive 

place for everyone to live, innovative thinking would 

therefore be required to deliver diverse and affordable 

options for people at all stages of life.

With this at the forefront of our minds, we organised a 

Critical Horizons conference titled “Housing the South 

West in the 21st Century”. On Friday April 1 2016, more 

than 200 people gathered in the Bunbury Regional 

Entertainment Centre’s Cube Theatre to hear from a 

number of high-profile speakers. Throughout the day, 

experts took to the stage to share information and 

thoughts about potential accommodation needs, trends 

and issues the region may face in the coming years and 

decades.

Officially opened by Housing Minister Colin Holt, the event 
explored a variety of topics from meeting the needs of 
older residents to the possibility of manufactured park 
home communities being an affordable option for the 
South West. Guest speakers included prominent home 
builder Dale Alcock who gave an industry perspective and 
futurist Gihan Perera who talked about housing challenges 
and innovation.

The event was successful in getting people to think 
about the future of housing, and we received favourable 
feedback from attendees. What made the positive 
comments even more pleasing is that the conference 
was managed in-house – everything from marketing 
to manning the registration desk on the day – in order 
to keep down costs. This ensured the event remained 
affordable for those who wished to come along. All up, it 

cost just $75 per person to attend the full-day conference, 

lunch and morning and afternoon teas included.

Also worth mentioning is the fact that the audience 

included displaced residents of Yarloop who attended to 

inform their thinking about the process of rebuilding the 

town following the bushfires earlier in the year.

We would like to acknowledge the valuable role 

conference sponsors – Alcoa, Bunbury Mail, LandCorp 

and Regional Development Australia – South West – 

played in making the event possible. We look forward 

to presenting our next Critical Horizons event for the 

purpose of stimulating thought and debate about some of 

the big issues confronting the region. By being equipped 

for challenges and prepared to take advantage of 

opportunities, we can help create our own bright futures.

PROJECT IN FOCUS

Our Critical Horizons conference attracted more than 200 people interested in hearing about  
the opportunities and challenges of housing the region’s growing – and ageing – population.

A place to talk about 
tomorrow, today
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Opportunities 
and challenges 
of housing the 
region’s growing 
population

The Bunbury suburb of Withers will benefit from the Withers Local Area Plan,  
which will guide and shape future planning of the neighbourhood.
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We drive and support 
agendas that promote 
cohesive, vibrant and 
engaged communities.

Challenge

As the population increases and our communities 

become bigger, how do we maintain a sense of 

community, and ensure all people are connected to 

the places they live, have opportunities to be included 

in community life, and are equipped and motivated to 

take on leadership roles?

Highlights

•  Royalties for Regions grants help to get community 
projects and services off the ground

•  Community emergency response trailers are strategically 
stored around the region

•  Placemaking activities in the Bunbury suburb of Withers 

create community connections

Snapshot of what’s on the horizon for 
2016/17

•  Announcement of new Community Chest Fund and 
Regional Grants Scheme funding allocations

•  Work with the Department of Regional Development 
to facilitate its emerging leadership program in the 
region

•  Work to increase Noongar inclusion and programs

88
84

Scorecard – How our clients rated our 
performance

Derek Brown with the Nannup Community Bus which is giving local community and sporting groups 
the means to travel outside Nannup to engage in activities not available in the small town.

Key Clients

Local Government
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The South West’s most important 

asset is its people. By investing 

in people, we aim to create 

strong, vibrant and inclusive 

communities. In 2015/16, 

our investment paid off, with 

residents empowered to deliver 

vital community services, 

contribute to their communities, 

and enjoy full lives.

Building regional capacity and 
engagement

At the South West Development Commission, we are big 
believers in the power of the community to accomplish 
great things. As such, we have worked to improve 
regional capability by empowering community groups to 
deliver projects that benefit local residents. Our efforts 
in this area have again been critically enhanced through 
the availability of Royalties for Regions funding. Both the 
Community Chest Fund and Regional Grants Scheme 
components of the funding program have provided us 
with the means to strengthen the region from the ground 
up by supporting grassroots and community projects. 
The majority of the projects we funded in 2013/14, were 

completed this financial year.

Thanks to our ability to make local decisions about the 
allocation of Royalties for Regions funding locally, we have 
been able to provide community groups with financial 
help to run much-needed community services. Take 
for example the Bunbury Meals on Wheels and Senior 
Citizens Association which received a Regional Grants 
Scheme grant from us in early 2015. It now has new 
flooring, stainless steel benches and a dishwasher to 
continue supporting the work of volunteers who dish up 
between 500 and 700 meals a week.

Another example of vital community services which 
we provided a boost to through Royalties for Regions 
funding was Bunbury’s InTown Centre which received a 
Community Chest Fund grant to install solar panels for 
the purpose of reducing electricity bills. Savings are now 
being redirected towards supporting people in need. 
Also benefiting from a Royalties for Regions grant was 
Foodbank in Bunbury which used its Regional Grants 
Scheme money to buy three upright display fridges. 
The fridges are allowing the South West branch of the 
organisation – which supports about 60,000 meals a 
month – to keep fruit and vegetables for longer, meaning 
more food for locals doing it tough.

Backing the work of volunteers

As volunteerism enables people to make a valuable 
contribution to the communities they live in, whilst 
also providing free resources that enable not-for-profit 
organisations to successfully carry out their work, we 
again backed the efforts of volunteers in the reporting 
year. Both our Royalties for Regions and South West 
Community Events Program grants enabled us to support 

the work of volunteers who donated their time and skills 
to improve their communities. 

Through the Community Chest Fund, for example, we 
were able to help make Bunbury Community Radio a 
reality. The radio station, which is staffed by volunteers 
from its base at Dalyellup College, is not only giving the 
community a voice but is also providing local high school 
students with training opportunities.

And through the Regional Grants Scheme, we provided 
assistance to enable the Cape to Cape Catchments 
Group to execute a bioblitz. With the aid of volunteers, 
including local students, the group recorded 215 
individual plant and animal species in a local A Class 
Reserve over three days in November 2015.

We also distributed South West Community Events 
Program grants to volunteer-driven groups that enrich 
the fabric of our society through the staging of events. By 
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Above: Terry Buswell at work in the newly-upgraded kitchen used 
by Bunbury Meals on Wheels to serve up dishes to local people.
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way of example, the South West Opera Company staged 
a production of Anne of Green Gables and the City of 
Bunbury Surf Life Saving Club held the annual Hot FM 
Surf to Surf Fun Run.

Fostering community connections

An important component of creating strong communities 
is through the fostering of community connections. In the 
reporting year, our attentions were once again focussed 
on raising the sense of community in the Bunbury suburb 
of Withers. As in the previous financial year, a series of 
place-making activities were carried out with the intention 
of transforming the suburb into a neighbourhood where 
like-minded people are encouraged to come together to 
socialise. 

A major project that aimed to create a close-knit 
community in Withers was the City of Bunbury’s artist-in-
residence program, which saw an artist set up a studio 
and involve local people in creating public artworks that 
assisted in establishing a sense of place and vibrancy 
in the area. People were invited to stop by the studio, 
join in a range of workshops and have a chat with fellow 
participants. The çrafternoon sessions, for example, 
presented people with the opportunity to take part in a 
yarn bombing project that saw tree trunks along a road 
reserve wrapped with colourful knitted artworks. The 
program culminated with local children working with 
the artist-in-residence to paint a ping pong table that 
was installed at Maidens Park. The program was not 
only successful in bringing people together, but in also 
brightening up the area and increasing the profile of 
Withers as a positive place to be.

Events held in Withers also assisted in forging the suburb 

as a vibrant, interesting community that people want to 

be part of. By way of illustration, school holiday activities 

were once again held for local primary and secondary 

students. In addition, a community Christmas celebration 

and community picnics were held in local parks, and an 

outdoor movie screen was staged.

Creating communities for all

It is important that all residents of the South West have 

equal opportunities to join in community life and pursue 

their interests. It’s for these reasons that we got behind 

initiatives that championed inclusivity and enabled people 

of all abilities to live rich, full lives. Case in point: we 

provided a Community Chest Fund grant to the Masonic 

Lodge in Manjimup towards improving accessibility. Now 

more people are able to participate in groups that hold 

meetings and activities in the building.

In a similar vein, we put Royalties for Regions funding 

towards increasing accessibility to the Donnybrook 

Amphitheatre. It is now easier for more people to enjoy 

the amphitheatre and surrounding park, thanks to new 

additions such as handrails along steps and a newly-

constructed pathway.

The Nannup Community Bus service has also been 

successful in providing residents of the somewhat isolated 

town of Nannup the opportunity to pursue interests that 

would not be possible in town. On average, the bus has 

been used twice a week and is used by a number of 

groups including a group of swimmers who travel each 

week to the Manjimup swimming pool. Monthly activities 

coordinated by community members include a cinema 

day in Busselton for seniors. 

Developing tomorrow’s leaders

In recognition of the important role the region’s young 
people will play in the years ahead, we supported a range 
of youth-oriented initiatives. Consequently, we have again 
supported the Rotary SW Young Achievers Program. The 
residential workshop program gives locals aged 18 to 25 
opportunities to reach their potential as future business 
and community leaders. We also continued to provide a 
helping hand to the South West Academy of Sport, which 
in 2015/16 provided aspiring athletes aged between 14 
and 18 with the chance to develop into champions on and 
off the sports field.

As part of our efforts to improve the Bunbury suburb of 
Withers through the Withers Urban Renewal Strategy, 
we also continued to support a homework club run by 
Milligan Community Learning and Resource Centre. As 
a result of the initiative, a qualified teacher was available 
at the Withers Community Library to help both local 
primary and secondary students complete homework, get 
access to free wi-fi and interact with their peers. Up to 15 
students attended each session, with the homework club 
becoming a regular part of some children’s routines.

Younger children were also a focus for us in 2015/16, and 
we supported Investing in Our Youth with a number of 
programs including the Collie and Carey Park Child and 
Parent Centres. The centres cater for local families with 
young children, with an emphasis on providing parents 
with access to early years activities and family support. 
We were also involved in the Regional Community Child 
Care Development Project, which saw the development of 
a plan that outlined the particular support needs of child 
care services in the region. We hope these initiative help 
to get youngsters off to a good start in life.
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It’s not very often that we create a service that we hope 

no one ever uses. But we did just that in 2015/16.

We live in a wonderful part of the world. But like other 

areas around the globe, our region is vulnerable to natural 

disaster. Just this year, the region experienced the full 

brunt of a bushfire. And in previous years, there’s been 

flooding and mini tornadoes.

Therefore, it is critically important that the South West 

is as prepared as possible for any challenges that 

might come its way. With this in mind, we have made 

community emergency response trailers available at 

strategic locations around the South West.

Stocked with basic overnight supplies such as sleeping 

bags, air mattresses and pillows, the trailers are now 

being stored with local emergency services. Although the 

trailers are based in Collie, Nannup and Bridgetown for 

logistical reasons, they can be deployed anywhere across 

the South West in the unfortunate event they are needed 

by people having to use temporary accommodation.

This is an important project aimed at providing at least 
some comfort to residents forced to leave their homes 
and stay at emergency shelters. The trailers can also be 
used by the people who work hard on the front lines to 
keep our communities safe if they need to set up shelter 
close to emergency sites.

The SWDC initiative, which was funded and organised 
by the Commission, is in line with our efforts to ensure 
quality of life for the region’s residents as well as build the 
capability of communities to deal with challenges.  

PROJECT IN FOCUS

Ellen Miles and Matthew Birch from Collie SES with a  
community emergency response trailer the group is garaging.

Community emergency 
response trailers get on 
the road
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FAST 
FACT
Each trailer contains 50 single sleeping 
bags, 50 single air mattresses, 50 
pillows, 25 air pumps and air-tight bags 
to store items.
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Funding programs and grants
In the interest of transparency and showing how State Government money is spent, a complete list of 
grants we allocated during the fiscal year ending June 30 2015 has been provided. 

The funding highlighted in the following pages has been distributed via a number of programs including 
the: 

•  Royalties for Regions – Community Chest Fund 

•  South West Community Events Program 

All contestable grants programs were supported by a public workshop series that people could attend 
to obtain information about the grants assessment process and completing a submission for funding. 

Grants distributed through non-contestable means, or which were administered by the Commission, are 
also catalogued in this section.

HOW WE INVESTED 
 IN THE REGION

FUNDING PROGRAMS 
AND GRANTS

HOW WE INVESTED IN THE REGION

Pictured: Anna Edmundson, Kelly Darragh, Michele Grimston come together to enjoy a ‘crafternoon’ in Withers.
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The Community Chest Fund is a component of Royalties 

for Regions, the State Government program to help grow 

Western Australia’s regional areas into strong and vibrant 

communities that are desirable places to live, work and 

invest.

Through the 2016 Fund, grants were available to 

support grassroots projects expected to make a positive 

difference at a local level in each of Western Australia’s 

regional areas. Organisations with projects that would 

benefit the community were invited to apply for one-off 

grants up to $50,000. In the South West, we received 75 

applicants for funding. Out of these, 28 were successful in 

obtaining a share in $553,706. The successful applicants 

were announced in June 2016.

GRANT IN FOCUS: How our funding 
made a difference

We are great believers in the power of small grants to 
make a big impact. As such, we were delighted to help 
strengthen communities from the ground up by making 
funding allocations to grassroots initiatives that aim to 
make a real difference to local people and places.

The Augusta Men’s Shed was one of 28 projects in the 
South West that we allocated a Community Chest Fund 
grant to in 2016.

The funding will enable the group to upgrade the car park 
and driveway, improving access for members. It will also 
see the range and quality of equipment updated.

Men’s sheds bring people together to learn and share 
skills, work on personal and community projects, and 
socialise. The benefits of the sheds include improved 
health and wellbeing.

Augusta Men’s Shed president Graeme “Muddy” Waters with  
Regional Development Minister Terry Redman.

HOW WE INVESTED 
 IN THE REGION

FUNDING PROGRAMS 
AND GRANTS

FUNDING PROGRAMS AND GRANTS

2016 Community Chest Fund
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Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

Yallingup Rural Volunteer Bush Fire Brigade Yallingup Rural Bush Fire Brigade Training Room $13,859.00
Golden Valley Tree Park  South West Arboretum Tourist Upgrade: Golden Valley Tree Park $23,100.00
Greenbushes Community Resource Centre  Supporting Our Seniors $26,400.00
Augusta Men's Shed  Augusta Men's Shed $20,000.00
Ficifolia Community Garden Ficifolia Community Garden Walpole $10,134.00
Smiths Beach Surf Life Saving Club  Smiths Beach Surf Life Saving Club Equipment Storage and 

Training Facility
$43,228.92

Pathways SouthWest and South West Community 
Drug and Alcohol Service

Drug, Alcohol and Mental Health Workshops $33,230.00

Balingup Progress Association  Light up the Dark Ages $27,199.70
Stirling Street Arts Centre Management Bunbury Summer School $3,000.00
City of Bunbury - Bunbury Regional Art Galleries  Bunbury Regional Art Gallery Noongar Arts Strategy $10,000.00
Northcliffe Pioneer Museum  Northcliffe Museum Time Capsule $19,060.00
Geegeelup Village Geegeelup Internal Pathway Project $38,547.00
Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup  Bridge Street Affordable Housing project $13,100.00
South West Women's Health and Information Centre WomanMade.com.au $12,000.00
Nannup Bowling Club  Community Kitchen Upgrade $17,268.74
Nannup Music Club  Store and Storage at Nannup Music Club $21,285.00
The Creative Corner Generator Business program and Startup Space $14,783.25
Bridgetown Greenbushes Business and Tourism 
Association

Let's Light the Town $10,450.00

Collie Chamber of Commerce and Industry Collie Centralised Digital Presence $12,000.00
Blackwood Basin Group  Nature-Viewing Precinct at Schwenkes Dam in Greenbushes $50,000.00
Greenfield Utilities Dunsborough Greenfield Community Group $38,000.00
Nannup Film Society Community Cinema Upgrade $8,235.45
Manjimup Farmers Market  Utilising Market Surrounds for Future Growth $6,669.46
Milligan Community Learning and Resource Centre Milligan Makeover Stage One $23,905.00
Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup  Men in Sheds Donnybrook $6,313.50
FROGS Early Learning Centre Outdoor Learning Environment Project $18,937.00
The Federation Western Australia Police and 
Community Youth Centres (Collie) 

Jump Back Into Time $2,000.00

Busselton Jetty Environment and Conservation 
Association 

Busselton Jetty multimedia project $31,000.00

HOW WE INVESTED 
 IN THE REGION

FUNDING PROGRAMS 
AND GRANTS

Actors David Wenham, Hugo Weaving and Sarah 
Snook visit the Busselton Jetty during CinefestOZ.

2016 Community Chest Fund
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Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

WA Performing Arts Eisteddfod WA Performing Arts Eisteddfod $2,000.00
Collie PCYC Skate Collie $1,000.00
South West Veteran Car Club SW Mega Motoring Extravaganza $3,000.00
Collie Early Years Network Collie Children's Day $1,000.00
Hockey Australia Hockeyroos vs Great Britain $5,500.00
UnitingCare West Pridefest 2016 $2,000.00
Harvey Mainstreet Harvey Harvest Festival $3,500.00
Boyanup Foundation Traditional Trades Day $1,500.00
Withers Progress Association Des Ugle Park Christmas Concert and Family 

Day
$1,000.00

City of Bunbury Surf Life Saving Club Hot FM Surf to Surf Fun $2,000.00
South West Academy of Sport SWAS-Telstra Fun Run Relay $3,000.00
Balingup and Districts Tourism Association Balingup Garden Show $2,500.00
Special Olympics South West Special Olympics Western Australia 

Invitational
$3,500.00

City of Bunbury Surf Life Saving Club City of Bunbury Surf Life Saving Club Down 
Wind Ocean Classic Paddle

$1,000.00

Dardanup Bull and Barrel Festival LiveLighter Dardanup Bull and Barrel Festival $2,500.00
Six Two Three Zero ReDiscover Bunbury 2016 $5,000.00
Motoring Southwest South West National Drift Wars $4,500.00
Golden Valley Tree Park Golden Valley Spring Picnic $2,500.00
Bunbury Multicultural Group Multicultural Night Under the Stars $3,000.00
Balingup Progress Association Telling Tales in Balingup $2,000.00
Bunbury and Districts Power Boat Club Millard Fishing Classic $2,000.00
Bunbury Agricultural Society 2016 LiveLighter Bunbury Show $2,500.00
Collie Cycle Club 91st Collie to Donnybrook and Return Cycling 

Classic
$3,500.00

Yarloop Workshops Easter Family Fun Day $1,500.00
Woolkabunning Kiaka Cultural Campout $1,500.00
South West Seniors Expo South West Seniors Expo $1,000.00
Port Geograph Aquatic Sports Geographe Bay Race Week $2,000.00
Busselton Runners Club Busselton Runners Club Half Marathon & Fun 

Run
$3,000.00

South West Community Events Program

HOW WE INVESTED 
 IN THE REGION

FUNDING PROGRAMS 
AND GRANTS

Our annual South West Community Events Program 
provides financial assistance towards staging events 
that are expected to provide economic and community 
benefits to the region. Up to $150,000 was made 
available through this program, with each event eligible to 
receive up to $6000. A total of 77 applications for funding 
were received. From this, it was decided to provide 57 
events taking place in 2016 with a share in record funding 
of $143,000. 

Actors David Wenham, Hugo Weaving and Sarah 
Snook visit the Busselton Jetty during CinefestOZ.



54

Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

South West Odyssey Events South West Bush Poets Festival $3,000.00
Lunar Circus School Western Australian Circus Festival $3,000.00
Dunsborough and Districts Progress Association Dunsborough Arts Festival $2,000.00
Arts Margaret River Margaret River Readers and Writers Festival $4,500.00
Margaret River Region Open Studios Margaret River Region Open Studios $4,000.00
South West Opera Company Anne of Green Gables $1,500.00
Busselton Child Care Busselton Family Fun Open Day $1,000.00
Busselton Community Garden Busselton Community Garden 2016 Festival $1,500.00
Dunsborough & Districts Progress Association Jazz by the Bay $5,000.00
Augusta River Festival 2016 Augusta River Festival $3,000.00
Margaret River Concert Concert in the Vines $1,500.00
Acting Up Summer Series at ArtGeo $3,500.00
Woolkabunning Kiaka Kambarang - SW Aboriginal Gourmet 

Experience
$2,000.00

Country Music Club of Boyup Brook Boyup Brook Country Music Festival Art 
Awards

$3,000.00

South West Food Bowl Festival South West Food Bowl Festival $2,500.00
Blackwood River Valley Marketing Association Rally in the Valley $1,000.00
Nannup Garden Village Nannup Flower and Garden Festival $4,500.00
Manjimup Lions Club Jazz in the Jarrah 2016 $1,000.00
Manjimup Chamber of Commerce & Industry Manjimup Cherry Harmony Festival $4,000.00
Quinninup Community Association Quinninup Annual Market Day and Wine 

Tasting
$1,000.00

Pemberton Visitor Centre Unearthed Pemberton $3,000.00
Pemberton Community Resource Centre Pemberton Classic $2,500.00
Walpole Community Resource Centre Avag'day in Walpole $1,000.00
Northcliffe Visitor Centre Blooming Wild Festival $2,000.00
Greenbushes Ratepayers & Residents Association Greenbushes Fun Run and Festival $1,000.00
Northcliffe Visitor Centre Karri Cup MTB Challenge $4,500.00
Blackwood Valley Wine Industry Association Taste of the Blackwood $1,500.00

Stadium Triathlon Club Karri Valley Triathlon $3,000.00

Warren Arts Council Manjimup Bluegrass and Old Time Music 
Weekend

$3,000.00
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With our help, two test hockey matches between the  
Hockeyroos and Great Britain took place in Bunbury.

GRANT IN FOCUS: How our funding 
made a difference

Among the events we allocated funding towards this year 
were two test hockey matches that took place in Bunbury 
between the Hockeyroos and Great Britain.

The showpiece matches in February 2016 were designed 
to prepare both teams for the Rio 2016 Olympic Games. 
They had the bonus of placing the international spotlight 
on Bunbury and giving locals the opportunity to take in 
world-class sporting action.

Bunbury was praised for providing “friendly local support” 
by Hockeyroos head coach Adam Commens who said 
they would “have no hesitation to come back to Bunbury 
in the future”.

South West Community Events Program
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HOW WE INVESTED 
 IN THE REGION

FUNDING PROGRAMS 
AND GRANTS

We administered a total of 24 non-contestable grants in 
2015/16. Funding was allocated to support a range of 
initiatives related to delivery of our South West Regional 
Blueprint. 

GRANT IN FOCUS: How our funding 
made a difference

In the interest of building knowledge about the South 
West which can be used to inform critical decisions about 
how to manage and develop the region, we helped to 
establish a science council in the region. 

The South West Science Council is now set up as an 
incorporated body for the purpose of fostering scientific 
innovation and providing a network of expertise to draw 
on and collaborate with. 

In the reporting period, the group held its first event – a 
climate change-themed symposium featuring WA chief 
scientist Peter Klinken as a guest speaker.

Non-contestable Grants

Recipient Project Grant (GST exc.)

Australia's South West Bushfire Recovery Tourist Route $2,500.00
Bunbury and District Hockey Stadium Australia-Great Britain Match $4,500.00
Bunbury Chamber of Commerce and Industries South West Young Achievers – 2016 Youth 

Leadership Program
$10,000.00

Bunbury Dolphin Discovery Dolphin Discovery Centre Funding Assistance $150,000.00
Creative Corner Emergence Creative Festival 2016 $15,000.00
CinéfestOZ CinéfestOZ China-Australia Producers Forum $20,000.00
CinéfestOZ CinéfestOZ Film Festival $40,000.00
City of Bunbury Love Where You Live Summer Series 2016 $2,400.00
Creative Corner Development of the South West Creative 

Industry
$30,000.00

Creative Corner Emergence Creative Festival 2016 $15,000.00
Investing in our Youth Collie Early Years Education $15,000.00
Investing in our Youth South West Education and Care – 

Professional Community Development
$10,023.00

Investing in our Youth South West Education and Care – Services 
Support Models

$32,000.00

Landcorp South West Food Processing Precinct – 
Odour Modelling

$15,000.00

Milligan Community Learning and Resource 
Centre

Withers Homework Club $1,740.00

Regional Development Australia – South West South West NBN Advisor $106,000.00
Rotary Club South Bunbury Scitech Children's Fair $2,070.00
Shire of Collie Collie Age Friendly Community Study $15,000.00
South West Science Council Development of the South West Science 

Council
$25,000.00

WA Indigenous Tourism Operators Council 
(WAITOC)

Australian Indigenous Tourism Conference $15,000.00

Walpole Nornalup Visitor Centre Pioneer Park, Walpole $2,500.00
Warren Blackwood Alliance of Councils New Tourism Organisation for the Warren 

Blackwood
$5,000.00

Western Dairy Dairy Innovation Day $5,000.00
Western Dairy Dairy Farm Monitor Project $30,000.00
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certification of Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

The accompanying financial statements of South West Development Commission have been prepared 
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and 
records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2016 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2016.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Stuart Hicks AO

Chairman of the Board
8 August 2016

Anne Oades
A/Chief Executive Officer
8 August 2016

Susan Fitchat
Chief Finance Officer
8 August 2016

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES

CERTIFICATION



58

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES

Auditors Report



CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATORS DISCLOSURES

SWDC Annual Report 2015/16 59



60

Note 2016 $ 2015 $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6 2,816,573 2,660,733

Supplies and services 7 1,697,897 1,432,209

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 198,513 186,155

Accommodation expenses 9 273,476 266,982

Grants and subsidies 10 20,006,569 4,027,996

Other expenses 12 152,368 175,445

Revaluation decrement 11 1,061,685 72,199

Total cost of services 26,207,081 8,821,719

Income 
Revenue

Commonwealth grants and contributions 13 71,563 46,750

Other revenue 14 172,763 67,658

Total revenue 244,326 114,408

Total income other than income from State Government 244,326 114,408

NET COST OF SERVICES 25,962,755 8,707,311

Income from State Government 15

Service appropriation                    219,000 215,000

Grants and contributions from government agencies 90,746 69,635

Services received free of charge 30,021 25,718

Royalties for Regions funds 22,431,255 8,266,282

Total income from State Government 22,771,022 8,576,635

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (3,191,733) (130,676)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation surplus                 (363,132) 102,988

Total other comprehensive income (363,132) 102,988

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (3,554,865) (27,688)

The statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2016

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Statement of financial position for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2016 $ 2015 $

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 27 - 703,856

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 27 4,406,622 6,043,591

Receivables 17 1,850,629 63,552

Amounts receivable for services 19 62,000 62,000

Other assets 18 2,688 2,537

Total current assets 6,321,939 6,875,536

Non-current assets

Amounts receivable for services 19 1,191,000 1,191,000

Property, plant and equipment 20 8,108,004 9,639,132

Infrastructure 21 765,889 808,767

Intangible assets 22 57,338 69,658

Total non-current assets 10,122,231 11,708,557

TOTAL ASSETS 16,444,170 18,584,093

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 24 299,500 211,920

Provisions 25 653,177 538,986

Total current liabilities 952,677 750,906

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 25 135,568 151,367

Total non-current liabilities 135,568 151,367

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,088,245 902,273

NET ASSETS 15,355,925 17,681,820

EQUITY 26

Contributed equity 12,618,147 11,389,177

Reserves 10,876,821 11,239,953

Accumulated deficit (8,139,043) (4,947,310)

TOTAL EQUITY 15,355,925 17,681,820

The statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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Note
Contributed 

equity $ Reserves $
Accumulated 

deficit $
Total  

equity $

Balance at 1 July 2014 26 11,389,177 11,136,965 (4,816,636) 17,709,508

Deficit                  -                  -    (130,676) (130,676)

Other comprehensive income                  - 102,988                  - 102,988

Total comprehensive income for the 
period - 102,988 (130,676) (27,688)

Balance at 30 June 2015 11,389,177 11,239,953 (4,947,310) 17,681,820

Balance at 1 July 2015 26 11,389,177 11,239,953 (4,947,310) 17,681,820

Deficit                  -                  - (3,191,733) (3,191,733)

Other comprehensive income                                                                   - (363,132)                  - (363,132)

Total comprehensive income for the 
period

                 - (363,132) (3,191,733) (3,554,865)

Capital appropriation 1,228,970 1,228,970

Balance at 30 June 2016 12,618,147 10,876,821 (8,139,043) 15,355,925

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2016

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2016 $ 2015 $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 219,000 215,000

Grants and contributions from government agencies 90,746 69,635

Capital appropriation 1,228,970 -

Royalties for Regions fund 22,431,255 8,266,282

Net cash provided by State Government  23,969,971 8,550,917

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  (2,764,845) (2,556,656)

Supplies and services  (1,661,824) (1,499,670)

Accommodation (288,383) (263,818)

Grants and subsidies (19,878,804) (3,998,690)

GST payments on purchases (2,175,858) (577,262)

Other payments  (176,764) (175,445)

Receipts

Commonwealth grants and contributions 64,223 46,750

GST receipts on sales 24,790 15,541

GST receipts from taxation authority 382,338 760,862

Other receipts 201,335 67,658

Net cash used in operating activities 27 (26,273,792) (8,180,730)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (37,004) (106,556)

Net cash used in investing activities  (37,004) (106,556)

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents held (2,340,825) 263,631

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  6,747,447 6,483,816

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
PERIOD 27 4,406,622 6,747,447

The statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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1. Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
General

The Commission’s financial statements for the year 

ended 30 June 2016 have been prepared in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 

‘Australian Accounting Standards’ refers to Standards 

and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 

Standards Board (AASB).

The Commission has adopted any applicable, new and 

revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 

operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards

The Commission cannot adopt an Australian Accounting 

Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 

‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 

Other Pronouncements’. Partial exemption permitting 

early adoption of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to 

Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures 

of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted.  

Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has been no early 

adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards 

that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by 

the Commission for the annual reporting period ended 30 

June 2016.

2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies

(a) General statement

The Commission is a not-for-profit entity that prepares 

general purpose financial statements in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 

Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 

authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board as applied by the 

Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by 

the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, 

format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 

Instructions are legislative provisions that govern the 

preparation of financial statements and take precedence 

over Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements 

of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 

pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 

Board.

Where modification is required and has had a material 

or significant financial effect upon the reported results, 

details of that modification and the resulting financial 

effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 

statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the 

accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 

convention, except for land, buildings, infrastructure and 

works of art which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 

the financial statements have been consistently applied 

throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian 

dollars.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying 

accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have 

been made in the process of applying the Commission’s 

accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses 
key assumptions made concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial.

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity is the South West Development 
Commission.

(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the 
owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior 
to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as 
equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been 
designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer’s 
Instruction (TI) 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been 
credited directly to Contributed Equity.

Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners 
where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
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major business activities as follows:

Service appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at 
fair value in the period in which the Commission gains 
control of the appropriated funds. The Commission gains 
control of appropriated funds at the time those funds 
are deposited to the bank account or credited to the 
‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held 
at Treasury.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and 
disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser 
and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the 
client or by reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 

contributions

Revenue is recognised at the fair value when the 
Commission obtains control over the assets comprising 
the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not 
contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair 
value can be reliably determined and the services would 
be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at 

fair value in the period in which the Commission obtains 
control over the funds. The Commission obtains control 
of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the 
Commission’s bank account.

Gains

Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a 
net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of 
non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current 
assets. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and 
the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) 
over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and 
equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 
are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part 
of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement

All items of property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant, equipment, works of art and 
infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the 
revaluation model is used for the measurement of land, 
buildings, infrastructure, works of art, and historical 
cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, 
buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure 

only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items 

of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 

cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value 

of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 

current market buying values determined by reference 

to recent market transactions. When buildings are re-

valued by reference to recent market transactions, the 

accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross 

carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated 

to the re-valued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, the fair value 

of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 

existing use. This normally applies where buildings are 

specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value 

for existing use assets is determined by reference to the 

cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits 

embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement 

cost. Where the fair value of buildings is dependent 

on using the depreciated replacement cost, the gross 

carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are 

restated proportionately. Fair value for restricted use land 

is determined by comparison with market evidence for 

land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use 

land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land 

(low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually 

by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 

(Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure 

that the carrying amount does not differ materially from 

the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by 
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reference to the depreciated replacement cost (existing 
use basis) as the assets are specialised and no market-
based evidence of value is available. 

When infrastructure is re-valued, the accumulated 
depreciation is restated proportionately with the change 
in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the 
carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its 
re-valued amount.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value 
are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use 
basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. 
Professional judgement by the valuer is required where 
evidence does not provide a clear distinction between 
market type assets and existing use assets.

Derecognition

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-
current assets as described in Note 20 ‘Property, plant 
and equipment’.

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their 
future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line methods, 
using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful 

lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 20 years – 40 years

Office equipment 3 years – 10 years

Infrastructure 20 years – 29 years

Works of art controlled by the Commission are classified 
as property, plant and equipment, which are anticipated 
to have very long and indefinite useful lives. Their service 
potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed 
during the reporting period and so no depreciation has 
been recognised.

Land is not depreciated.

(g) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more 
and internally generated intangible assets costing over 
$50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising 
the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. 
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For 
assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, 
the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives 
is calculated for the period of the expected benefit 
(estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using 
rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets 

controlled by the Commission have a finite useful life and 

zero residual value. 

The expected useful lives of this class of intangible asset 

are:

Software 3 years

Website costs 3 years

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 

treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is 

not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as 

an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is 

expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses when they 

are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or 

development of an asset when they may be capitalised 

and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility 

studies during the planning of a website, and ongoing 

costs of maintenance during the operating phase are 

expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a 

website, to the extent that they represent probable future 

economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are 

capitalised.

(h) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and 

intangible assets are tested for any indication of 

impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where 

there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 

amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount is 

less than the carrying amount, the asset is written down 

to the recoverable amount and impairment is recognised. 
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As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, unless 
an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or 
where there is significant change in useful life. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that 
the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the 
level of consumption or expiration of an asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk 
from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and 
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment at the end of each reporting period 
irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus 
assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
the present value of future cash flows expected to 
be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at 
fair value have no risk of material impairment where 
fair value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence.  Where fair value is determined by reference to 
depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk 
of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. 
Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairments at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as 
held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale 
are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair 

value less costs to sell and are presented separately 
from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised.

(j) Leases

The Commission holds operating leases for head office 
and a number of branch office buildings.

Operating lease payments are expensed on a straight line 
basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of 
benefits derived from the leased properties.

(k) Financial instruments

In addition to cash, the Commission has two categories 
of financial instrument:

•  Receivables; and

•  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the 
following classes:

Financial assets

•  Cash and cash equivalents

•  Restricted cash and cash equivalents

•  Receivables

•  Amounts receivable for services

Financial liabilities

•  Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally equates to 
the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is 
the transaction cost or the face value because there is no 
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is 
not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash 
and cash equivalents (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand which are 
subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

(m) Accrued salaries 

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 16 
‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of 
amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a 
period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional 
cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pays occur in 
that year instead of the normal 26. No interest is received 
on this account.

Accrued salaries (see note 24 ‘Payables’) represent the 
amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial 
year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of 
the financial year end. The Commission considers the 
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its 
fair value. 

(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The Commission receives income from the State 
Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding 
account receivable). The accrued amount is accessible 
on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to 
cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

(o) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount 
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less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts 
(impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified 
as uncollectible are written off against the allowance 
account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence 
that the Commission will not be able to collect the debts. 
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due 
for settlement within 30 days. 

(p) Payables

Payables are recognised when the Commission becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase 
of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to 
the fair value as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(q) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount 
and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period. 

Provisions – employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are 
in respect of employee’s services up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Annual leave  

Annual leave not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the reporting period is therefore 
considered to be 'other long term employee benefits'. The 
annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 

liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected 

to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 

is given to expected future wage and salary levels 

including non-salary components such as employer 

superannuation contributions, as well as the experience 

of employee departures and periods of service. The 

expected future payments are discounted using market 

yields at the end of the reporting period on national 

government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 

closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as current 

liability as the Commission does not have an unconditional 

right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 

months after the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly 

within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and 

is therefore recognised and measured at the present value 

of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 

settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at 

the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 

is given to expected future wage and salary levels 

including non-salary components such as employer 

superannuation contributions, as well as the experience 

of employee departures and periods of service. The 

expected future payments are discounted using market 

yields as the end of the reporting period on national 

government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 

closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified 

as current liabilities as the Commission does not have 

an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 

for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period.  Pre-conditional and conditional long service 

leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 

because the Commission has an unconditional right to 

defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 

completed the required years of service.

Purchased leave 

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service 

employees who have entered into an agreement to self-

fund up to an additional ten weeks leave per calendar 

year.  The provision recognises the value of salary set 

aside for employees and is measured at the nominal 

amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 

settled. 

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board 

(GESB) and other fund providers, administers public 

sector superannuation agreements in Western Australia in 

accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria 

for membership in a particular scheme for public sector 

employees varies according to commencement and 

implementation date.

Eligible employees may contribute to the Pension 

Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now 

closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State 

Superannuation Scheme (GSS) a defined benefit lump 

sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes 

of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  

However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency 
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purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined 

contributions) made by the Commission to GESB 

extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related 

superannuation liability.

The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension or 

the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme 

and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to 

members, who transferred from the Pension Scheme, 

are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations 

are funded by concurrent contributions made by the 

Commission to GESB. The concurrently funded part 

of the GSS is a defined contribution scheme as these 

contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the 

concurrently funded GSS obligations.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 

2007 who are not members of either the Pension or 

the GSS became non-contributory members of the 

West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees 

commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 

became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). 

From 30 March 2012, existing members of WSS and 

GESB and new employees became able to choose their 

preferred superannuation fund. The Commission makes 

concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees 

in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 

Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. 

Contributions to this accumulated scheme extinguish 

the Commission’s liability for superannuation charges 

in respect of employees who are not members of the 

pension scheme or GSS.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the 

Pension and GSS schemes, and is recouped by the 

Treasurer for the employer’s share.

Provisions – other

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including worker’s compensation 
insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses 
when the employment to which they relate has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part 
of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the 
Commission’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related 
liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.   

(r) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions 
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the GESB Super 
Scheme (GESBS), and other superannuation funds.

(s) Assets and services received free of charge or for 

nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal 
cost that the agency would otherwise purchase if not 
donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. 
A corresponding expense is recognised for services 
received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government 
agencies are separately disclosed under Income from 
State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

(t) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, when appropriate, reclassified 

to be comparable with figures presented in the current 
financial year.

3. Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the application 
of accounting policies that have a significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The 
Commission evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitment

The Commission has entered into a number of leases 
for buildings for branch office accommodation.  Some 
of these leases relate to buildings of a temporary 
nature and it has been determined that the lessor 
retains subsequently all risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. Accordingly, the lease has been classified as 
operating leases.

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are 
based on historical experience and various other factors 
that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities with the 
next financial year.

Long service leave

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating 
the Commission’s long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes 
in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or 
adopted, for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that impacted on 
the Commission:

AASB 2013-9 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality 
and Financial Instruments
Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The 
application date of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 
2014-1. The Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of AASB 9.

AASB 2014-8    

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 
– Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 
& 2010)]  
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) 
and AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 
9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2015-3 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the withdrawal of AASB 
1031 Materiality. 
This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be 
withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-
Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 13] 
This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden 
associated with various disclosures required by AASB 13 for assets within the scope of 
AASB 116 that are held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate 
future net cash inflows. It has no financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Commission cannot adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, 
the Commission has adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where 
applicable, the Commission plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards 
from their application date.

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES

Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes 
to accounting treatments. The mandatory application date of this 
Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 
2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards. The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard establishes the principles that the Commission 
shall apply to report useful information to users of financial 
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. 
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 16 Leases

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and 
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases 
with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset 
is of low value. The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other 
Standard (and Interpretation), grouped where they are the same. 
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result 
of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The mandatory application 
date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and 
AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Commission has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and 
consequential amendments to other Standards. It has not yet 
been assessed by the Commission to determine the application or 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 
1 & 11]

The Commission establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of 
its objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in Joint 
Operations. Therefore there is no financial impact on application of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2016
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Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 
128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends 
AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity method 
of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in their separate financial statements. The Commission 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an 
inconsistency between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in 
AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of 
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012–
2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 
& 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International 
Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 
2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. 
The Commission has determined that the application of the 
Standard has no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
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 AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138] 

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the 
Model Commission as depreciation and amortisation is not 
determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference 
to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards (including interpretations) arising 
from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of 
this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 
2018. The Commission has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards (including interpretations) arising 
from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Commission 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) 
of amendments to AASB 10 & 128 that were originally made in 
AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be applied 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
instead of 1 January 2016. The Commission has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impactof AASB 2014-10.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows 
(August 2015) to require disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-
cash changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Clarifications to AASB 15

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, 
principal versus agent considerations, timing of recognising 
revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further transitional 
provisions to AASB 15. The Commission has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2018

Operative for reporting 
 period beginning on/after 

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 
& 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding 
the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard 
proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the 
concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure 
requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when 
applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in 
their financial statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

 AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include 
application by not-for-profit public sector entities. Implementation 
guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-
for-profit public sector entities. There is no financial impact.

1 July 2016

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Effective Date of AASB 15

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application 
date) of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that 
AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. 
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of AASB 15.

1 Jan 2017
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2016 $ 2015 $

6. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a) 2,549,183 2,414,489

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 267,390 246,244

2,816,573 2,660,733

a. Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including 
superannuation contribution component.

b. Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid), and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at Note 12 ‘Other expenses’. The employment on-costs 
liability is included at Note 25 ‘Provisions’.  

7. Supplies and services
Communication 66,955 54,730

Consultants and contractors 1,180,477 873,336

Consumables 83,204 96,162

Repairs and maintenance 17,495 10,467

Lease, rent and hire costs 150,963 156,082

Travel 48,552 63,720

Insurance 32,745 30,620

Rates and charges 19,382 25,418

Other 98,124 121,674

1,697,897 1,432,209

8. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

Office equipment 7,182 10,720

Buildings 99,268 92,888

Computer equipment 13,223 17,890

Infrastructure 42,879 46,393

Total depreciation 162,552 167,891

Amortisation

Intangible assets 35,961 18,264

Total amortisation 35,961 18,264

Total depreciation and amortisation 198,513 186,155
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2016 $ 2015 $

9. Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals 266,088 259,799

Cleaning 7,388 7,183

273,476 266,982

10. Grants and subsidies
Recurrent

Non public organisations (a) 937,728 995,213

Public sector organisations (a) 314,909 69,000

Local government agencies 18,753,932 2,963,783

20,006,569 4,027,996

a. Refer to Annual Report for detail of grant recipients.

11. Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Revaluation decrement World of Energy 1,061,685 -

Revaluation decrement Pemberton Hydro - 72,199

1,061,685 72,199

12. Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a) 17,893 17,371

Audit costs (b) 42,700 36,900

Internal audit costs 13,770 10,450

Contributions 31,500 22,150

Refunds of revenue from prior years - 27,228

Learning and development 38,883 53,756

Other expenses 7,622 7,590

152,368 175,445

a. Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of 
annual and long service leave liability is included at Note 25 'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision 
for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

b. Audit fees, see Note 33 'Remuneration of auditor'. 
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2016 $ 2015 $

13. Commonwealth grants and contributions
Australian Trade Commission 71,563 46,750

71,563 46,750

14. Other revenue
Rental from property 22,177 19,368

Grants revenue returned from prior years 19,888 36,887

Other sundry income 4,698 9,903

Margaret River Wine Association - 1,500

LandCorp 5,000 -

Alcoa 5,000 -

Regional Development Australia 16,000 -

City of Bunbury 100,000 -

172,763 67,658

15. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the year

Service appropriation (a) 219,000 215,000

219,000 215,000

Grants and contributions from government agencies

Department of Regional Development – Growing Our South 90,746 69,635

90,746 69,635

Services received free of charge (b)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:

Building Management and Works 27,786 25,522

State Solicitor 2,235 196

30,021 25,718
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2016 $ 2015 $

Royalties for Regions Fund

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Fund (c) 18,075,700 2,700,000

Regional Community Services Fund (c)

Operational Fund 3,800,000 4,601,000

Community Chest Fund and Regional Grants Scheme 555,555 965,282

22,431,255 8,266,282

Total revenue from State Government 22,771,022 8,576,635

a. Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash 
component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed 
increase in leave liability during the year.

b. Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the asset and/or services 
that can reliably measured and which would have been purchased if not donated. Contributions or assets or services in the nature of 
contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

c. This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds include the service appropriation funds for 
operational expenses of the Commission and projects and programs in the WA regional areas.
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2016 $ 2015 $

16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current

Restricted projects: Cash held to be used specifically for Board approved projects listed (a)

Agricultural transformation - 6,000

Augusta Lighthouse - - 

Broadband Margaret River - 25,000

NBN delivery for upgrade 36,000 -

Collie-Kemerton integrated water - -   

Cowaramup Resort - 150,000

Dolphin Discovery Centre 150,000 -

Special Board approved projects - 140,000

Lake Kepwari 2,666,349 2,666,349

Picton land development 553,160 554,000

South West Events Program 25,463 27,346

Withers urban renewal 672,490 882,433

Accrued salaries suspense account (b) - 85,319

4,103,462 4,536,447

Royalties for Regions projects restricted (a)

Capital works Dolphin Discovery Centre 192,067 -

Bunbury Marine Facilities 100,000 -

Regional Community Services Fund - 1,124,637

Regional Grant Scheme - 329,529

Regional Investment Blueprint 8,093 50,978

300,160 1,505,144

Department of Treasury 3,000 2,000

Total current restricted cash 4,406,622 6,043,591

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense (b) - -

Total restricted cash 4,406,622 6,043,591

a. Unspent funds are committed to projects in WA regional areas.
b. Amount held is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.
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2016 $ 2015 $

17. Receivables
Current

Accrued revenue - -

Receivables 8,075 5,579

GST receivable 1,842,554 57,973

1,850,629 63,552

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

18. Other assets
Current

Prepayments 2,688 2,537

2,688 2,537

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

19. Amounts receivable for services
Current 62,000 62,000

Non-current 1,191,000 1,191,000

1,253,000 1,253,000

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment 
of leave liability.

20. Property, plant and equipment
Office equipment

At cost 213,490 222,539

Accumulated depreciation (185,061) (187,067)

28,429 35,472

Buildings

At fair value (a) 1,724,200 1,777,500

Land

At fair value (a) 5,587,300 6,027,600
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2016 $ 2015 $

Works of art at fair value

Baudin Charts 43,200 12,000

Artefacts at fair value (b) 724,875 1,786,560

768,075 1,798,560

Total property, plant and equipment 8,108,004 9,639,132

a. Freehold land and buildings were re-valued as at 1 July 2015 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2016 and recognised at 30 June 2016. In undertaking the revaluation fair 
value was determined by reference to market value for land. For the remaining balance, fair value of land and building was determined on 
the basis of depreciated replacement cost.

b. The revaluation of artefacts were performed by RHAS an operating division of AON Risk Solutions. The fair value assessment was based 
on Australian Accounting Standard 116 (Property Plant and Equipment) and Australian Accounting Standard 13 (Fair Value Measurement). 
The effective date of the valuation is February 2016.  The artefacts are due to be transferred and donated to the Shire of Manjimup during 
financial year 2016-17.

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are 
set out below.

2015 Land $ Buildings $ Office equip $ Works of art $ Total $

Carry amount at start of period 6,027,600 1,736,200 64,082 1,798,560 9,626,442

Additions: revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in               - 31,200          -               - 31,200

Profit or loss: revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in

Other comprehensive income               - 102,988          -               - 102,988

Disposals - - - - -

Depreciation expense               - (92,888) (28,610)               - (121,498)

Carrying amount at end of period 6,027,600 1,777,500 35,472 1,798,560 9,639,132

2016

Carry amount at start of period 6,027,600 1,777,500 35,472 1,798,560 9,639,132

Additions: revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in                -                - 13,362               - 13,362

Profit or loss: revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in - - - (1,061,685) (1,061,685)

Other comprehensive income (440,300) 45,968 - 31,200 (363,132)

Disposals - - - - -

Depreciation expense - (99,268) (20,405) - (119,673)

Carrying amount at end of period 5,587,300 1,724,200 28,429 768,075 8,108,004
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21. Infrastructure
At fair value 809,000 809,000

Accumulated depreciation (43,111) (233)

765,889 808,767

Reconciliation

Carrying amount at start of period 808,767 919,359

Addition - 8,000

Devaluation – Pemberton Hydro - (72,199)

Depreciation (42,878) (46,393)

Carrying amount at end of period 765,889 808,767

22. Intangible assets
Computer software

At cost 132,114 108,473

Accumulated depreciation (74,776) (38,815)

Carrying amount at end of period 57,338 69,658

Reconciliation

Carrying amount at start of period 69,658 15,055

Additions 23,641 72,867

Depreciation (35,961) (18,264)

Carrying amount at end of period 57,338 69,658

23. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets at 30 June 
2016. 
The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period and at 
reporting date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
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2016 $ 2015 $

24. Payables
Current

Trade payables 181,152 12,066

Accrued expenses 101,144 124,774

Accrued salaries 17,204 75,080

299,500 211,920

25. Provisions
Current

Employee benefits provision

Purchased leave 405 3,127

Annual leave (a) 319,700 305,366

Long service leave (b) 327,740 223,993

647,845 532,486

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 5,332 6,500

5,332 6,500

Total current provisions 653,177 538,986

Non-current

Long service leave (b) 133,565 150,459

133,565 150,459

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 2,003 908

Total non-current provisions 135,568 151,367

Total provisions 788,745 690,353

a. (a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 191,820 176,314

More than 12 months after reporting date 127,880 129,052

319,700 305,366
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2015 $ 2014 $

b. Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 196,645 134,396

More than 12 months after reporting date 264,660 240,056

461,305 374,452

c. The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities give rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers 
compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is included at Note 
12 ‘Other expenses'.

Movements in other provisions

Movements in provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of year 7,408 7,408

Additional provisions recognised (73)

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits - -

Carrying amount at end of year 7,335 7,408

26. Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Commission. The Western Australian Government holds 
the equity interest in the Commission on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of 
equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period 11,389,177 11,389,177

Contribution by owners

Capital appropriation 1,228,970 -

Balance at end of period 12,618,147 11,389,177

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at start of period 11,239,953 11,136,965

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Land (440,300) -

Buildings 45,968 102,988

Works of art 31,200 -

Balance at end of period 10,876,821 11,239,953
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2016 $ 2015 $

Accumulated (deficit)

Balance at start of period (4,947,310) (4,816,634)

Result for the period (3,191,733) (130,676)

Balance at end of period (8,139,043) (4,947,310)

Total equity at end of period  15,355,925 17,681,820

27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalent - 703,856

Restricted cash and cash equivalent (refer to note 16) 4,406,622 6,043,591

4,406,622 6,747,447

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities

Net cost of services (25,962,755) (8,707,311)

Non-cash items

Depreciation expense 198,513 186,155

Services received free of charge 30,021 25,718

Revaluation decrement 1,061,685 72,199

(Increase)/decrease in assets

Current receivables (a) 2,496 9

Other current assets 151 31,518

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

Current accounts payable (a) 87,580 (81,246)

Current provisions 114,191 24,696

Other current liabilities

Non-current provisions (15,799) 42,358

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b) (1,768,730) 199,141

Change in GST receivables/payables(c) (21,145) 26,033

Net cash used in operating activities                  (26,273,792) (8,180,730)
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a. This is the net GST paid/received, ie. cash transactions.
b. Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/

purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.
c. This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

28. Lease commitments
Non cancellable operating lease commitments.

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 274,309 259,133

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 887,366 795,963

Later than 5 years 46,791              328,981

1,208,466 1,384,077

The Commission has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a later than five year term, with 
rent payable monthly in advance.  Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease 
payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. An option exists to renew the lease at the end of the 
term.

The commitments above include GST.

29. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There are no events occurring after the balance sheet date that the Commission is aware of as at the date of this report.

30. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
There are no contingent liabilities or assets that the Commission is aware of as at 30 June 2016.

Contaminated Sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Commission is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites 
to the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the 
basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified a contaminated – 
remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, the Commission may have a liability in respect of 
investigation or remediation expenses. The Commission has no known or suspected contaminated sites.
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31. Fair value measurements
Assets measured at fair value $ $ $ $

2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair value at 
 end of year

Land - 2,660,000 2,927,300 5,587,300

Buildings - - 1,724,200 1,724,200

Works of art - 768,075               - 768,075

Infrastructure -  - 765,889 765,889

- 3,428,075 5,417,389 8,845,463

2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair value at 
 end of year

Land           - 3,060,000 2,967,600 6,027,600

Buildings -               - 1,777,500 1,777,500

Works of art -               - 1,798,560 1,798,560

Infrastructure -               - 808,767 808,767

- 3,060,000 7,352,427 10,412,427

Reconciliations of opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 20 & 21. 

The reconciliation for the current period includes a parcel of land which moved from market value basis (Level 2) to 
‘existing use’ basis (Level 3) as the restrictions on the use of the land were placed by the Government of Western Australia 
as determined by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

The reconciliation for the current period includes works of art which moved from ‘existing use’ basis (Level 3) to market 
value basis (Level 2) as determined by the valuation undertaken by RHAS and MUIR Books.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values

Level 2 fair values of land are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sale prices of comparable land in 
close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.
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Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

$ $ $ $

2016 Land Buildings Works of art Infrastructure

Fair value at start of period 2,967,600 1,777,500 1,789,560 808,767

Additions - - - -

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised: 

Profit or loss  (400,300) 45968 - -

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised: 

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Transfers (from/to Level 2) 360,000 - (1,789,560) -

Disposals

Depreciation expense - (99,268) - (42,878)

Fair value at end of period 2,927,300 1,724,200 - 765,889

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

$ $ $ $

2015 Land Buildings Works of art Infrastructure

Fair value at start of period 2,967,000 1,768,100 1,798,560 919,359

Additions 31,200 8,000

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised: 

Profit or loss - - - (72,199)

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised:

Other comprehensive income - 102,988 - -

Transfers (from/to Level 2) - - - -

Disposals

Depreciation expense - (92,888) - (46,393)

Fair value at end of period 2,967,600 1,777,500 1,789,560 808,767
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Valuation processes           

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused 
the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer's 
instructions require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will 
utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis. 

Land (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted 
use land). The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology.  
The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating 
with higher estimated fair values of land.

Buildings and Infrastructure (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing 
the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  Depreciated 
replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis 
of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where 
applicable) of the asset.  Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable 
replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Valuation using depreciation replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset which is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).  The 
fair value measurement is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate 
correlating with the lower estimated fair values of buildings and infrastructure.     

The fair value of works of art are extracted from financial records of the Commission, and were transferred to Level 2.
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Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description
Fair value  

2016
Fair value 

2015
Valuation  
technique(s)

Unobservable  
inputs

Land 2,927,300 2,967,600 Market approach Selection of land with similar 
approximate utility

Buildings 1,724,200 1,777,500 Depreciated 
replacement cost

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

Works of art 0 1,798,560 Replacement value Historical cost per collections

Infrastructure 765,889 808,767 Depreciated 
replacement cost

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 20 & 21.

Basis of valuation

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some nonfinancial assets, these assets are 
valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or 
limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These 
restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.   

32. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers

Remuneration of members of the accountable authority

The numbers of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits, and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

2016 2015 2016 $ 2015 $

$0           -  $10,000 11 7

$10,001  -  $20,000 - 1

$50,001  -  $60,000 - -

$70,001  -  $80,000 - 1

$80,001  -  $90,000 1 -

Base remuneration and superannuation 110,966 109,700

Annual leave and long service leave accruals - -

Other benefits 28,076 16,906

The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority is: 139,042 126,606
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90

The total remuneration includes superannuation expenses incurred by the Commission in respect of members of the 
accountable authority.

No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

Remuneration of senior officers

2016 2015 2016 $ 2015 $

$120,001 -  $130,000 1 -

$140,001 -  $150,000 1 1

$160,001 -  $170,000 1 3

$170,001 -  $180,000 1 -

$240,001 -  $250,000 - 1

$250,001 -  $260,000 1 -

Base remuneration and superannuation 826,006 811,629

Annual leave and long service leave accruals (9,487) 52,744

Other benefits 12,099 20,329

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 864,618 884,702

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of 
senior officers of the accountable authority. 

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

33. Remuneration of auditor 2016 $ 2015 $

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for 
the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 36,500 37,500

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
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34. Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016 and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are shown below. Narratives 
are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are generally greater than:

• 5% and $164,520 for the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows

• 5% and $311,480 for the Statement of Financial Position

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimated 
and actual 

Variance 
between  

actual for 
 2016 & 2015

2016 $ 2016 $ 2015 $ $ $

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 1 3,191,000 2,816,573 2,660,733 (374,427) 155,840

Supplies and services 2A 1,036,000 1,697,897 1,432,209 661,897 265,688

Depreciation and amortisation expense 132,000 198,513 186,155 66,513 12,358

Accommodation expenses 355,000 273,476 266,982 (81,524) 6,494

Grants and subsidies 3B 3,266,000 20,006,569 4,027,996 16,740,569 15,978,573

Other expenses 246,000 152,368 175,445 (93,632) (23,077)

Revaluation decrement 4C 1,061,685 72,199 1,061,685 989,486

Total cost of services 8,226,000 26,207,081 8,821,719 17,981,081 17,385,362

Income

Revenue

Commonwealth grants and contributions 50,000 71,563 46,750 21,563 24,813

Other revenue 5 5,000 172,763 67,658 167,763 105,105

Total revenue 55,000 244,326 114,408 189,326 129,918

Total income other than income from State Government 55,000 244,326 114,408 189,326 129,918

NET COST OF SERVICES 8,171,000 25,962,755 8,707,311 17,791,755 17,255,444
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Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimated 
and actual 

Variance 
between  

actual for 
 2016 & 2015

2016 $ 2016 $ 2015 $ $ $

Income from State Government

Service appropriation 219,000 219,000 215,000                - 4,000

Grants and contributions from - 90,746 69,635 90,746 21,111

Resources received free of charge - 30,021 25,718 30,021 4,303

Royalties for Regions fund 3B 5,281,000 22,431,255 8,266,282 17,150,255 14,164,973

Total income from State Government 5,500,000 22,771,022 8,576,635 17,271,022 14,194,387

Surplus/(defecit) for the period (2,671,000) (3,191,733) (130,676) (520,733) (3,061,057)

Other comprehensive income

Changes in asset revaluation reserve - (363,132) 102,988 (363,132) (466,120)

Total other comprehensive income  - (363,132) 102,988 (363,132) (466,120)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (2,671,000) (3,554,865) 27,688 (883,865) (3,527,177)

Budget variance explanations

Note 1:  Decreased expenditure on wages due to two staff on maternity leave and unpaid leave

Note 2:  Supplies and Service expenditure have increase due to increased expenditure on Professional Services, feasibility studies for project Collie Economic 
Development Taskforce, Potato Industry study and Bunbury Marine development

Note 3:  The increased income and expenditure is due to the large Royalties for Regions payment for Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront project and Margaret 
River Main Street development, which totals to $18,075,700

Note 4:  Non cash expense of World of Energy artefacts revalued by RHAS in 2015-16 which caused a revaluation decrement of $1,061,605

Note 5:  The first tranche of funding was received from the City of Bunbury in respect of the Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront project 

Actual variance explanations

Note A:  Increased expenditure on professional services to support business case submissions for the region, and capacity building

Note B:  Royalties for Regions financial assistance funding in 2016 was received and distributed to the City of Bunbury and Shire of Augusta Margaret River

Note C:  Revaluation decrement for World of Energy as valued by RHAS in the current year and Pemberton Hydro valued by Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services) in the prior year
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL  
POSITION

Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimated 
and actual 

Variance 
between  

actual for 
 2016 & 2015

2016 $ 2016 $ 2015 $ $ $

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14J 641,000 - 703,856 (641,000) (703,856)

Restricted cash and equivalents 6D 2,988,000 4,406,622 6,043,591 1,418,622 (1,636,969)

Receivables 7E  302,000    1,850,829 63,552 1,548,629 1,787,077

Other assets 40,000 2,688 2,537 (37,312) 151

Amounts receivable for services - 62,000 62,000 62,000 -

Total current assets 3,971,000 6,321,939 6,875,536 2,350,939 -553,597

Non current assets

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 1,191,000 1,191,000 (62,000) -

Property, plant and equipment 8F 8,550,000 8,108,004 9,639,132 (441,996) (1,531,128)

Infrastructure 9 - 765,889 808,767 765,889 (42,878)

Intangible assets 14,000 57,338 69,658 43,338 (12,320)

Other assets 10 1,786,000 - - (1,786,000) -

Total non-current assets 11,603,000 10,122,231 11,708,557 (1,480,769) (1,586,326)

Total assets 15,574,000 16,444,170 18,584,093 870,170  (2,139,923)

Current liabilities

Payables 13,000 299,500 211,920 286,500 87,580

Provisions 410,000 653,177 538,986 243,177 114,191

Other 6,000 - - (6,000) -

Total current liabilities 429,000 952,677 750,906 523,677 201,771

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 110,000 135,568 151,367 25,568 (15,799)

Total non-current liabilities 110,000 135,568 151,367 25,568 (15,799)

Total liabilities 539,000 1,088,246 902,273 549,246  185,973

NET ASSETS 15,035,000 15,355,925 17,681,820 320,925  (2,325,895)
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Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimated 
and actual 

Variance 
between  

actual for 
 2016 & 2015

2016 $ 2016 $ 2015 $ $ $

Equity

Contributed equity 11G 11,389,000 12,618,147 11,389,177 1,229,147 1,228,970

Reserves 12H 11,136,000 10,876,821 11,239,953 (259,179) (363,132)

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 13 I (7,490,000) (8,139,043) (4,947,310) (649,043) (3,191,733)

TOTAL EQUITY  15,035,000 15,355,925 17,681,820 320,925 (2,325,895)

Budget variance explanations

Note 6:  Restricted cash retained for Lake Kepwari 

Note 7:  Includes GST receivable of $1,806,712 mainly related to Royalties for Regions projects

Note 8:  Revaluation decrements by Landgate (Western Australia Land Information Authority) assessment of land

Note 9:  Pemberton Hydro (Infrastructure) is budgeted in Property Plant and Equipment

Note 10: Revaluation of World of Energy

Note 11: Capital contribution towards the Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront project

Note 12: Revaluation movement  

Note 13: Accumulated deficit due to non cash expenses and reduction of income as government policy to reduce cash balances 

Note 14: Due to GST being paid on two significant grants prior to year end the unrestricted cash balance was exhausted to partially cover the GST

Actual variance explanations

Note D: Operational expenditure paid drawn from restricted cash balances as per government policy to use cash balances

Note E: Increase in Receivables due to GST reimbursement in July

Note F: Revaluation movements

Note G: Capital contribution payment for the Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront project

Note H: Reserve movements

Note I: Increase in deficit due to non cash expenses and reduction of income as government policy to reduce cash balances

Note J: Due to GST being paid on two significant grants prior to year end the unrestricted cash balance was exhausted to partially cover the GST
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Variance 

 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimated 
and actual 

Variance 
between  

actual for 
 2016 & 2015

2016 $ 2016 $ 2015 $ $ $

Cash flows from State Government

Service appropriation 219,000 219,000 215,000 - 4,000

Grants and contributions from government - 90,746 69,635 90,746 21,111

Capital contribution 15J - 1,228,970 - 1,228,970 1,228,970

Royalties for Regions fund 16K 5,281,000 22,431,255 8,266,282 17,150,255 14,164,973

Net cash provided by State Government  5,500,000 23,969,971 8,550,917 18,469,971 15,419,054

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments       

Employee benefits 17P (3,199,000) (2,764,845) (2,556,656) 434,155 (208,189)

Supplies and services 18 (1,018,000) (1,661,824) (1,499,670) (643,824) (162,154)

Accommodation (354,000) (288,383) (263,818) 65,617 (24,565)

Grants and subsidies 16K (3,266,000) (19,878,804) (3,998,690) (16,612,804) (15,880,114)

GST payments on purchases 19M               - (2,175,858) (577,262) (2,175,858) (1,598,596)

Other payments 22 (538,000) (176,764) (175,445) 361,236 (1,319)

Receipts       

Commonwealth grants and contributions  50,000 64,223 46,750 14,223 17,473

GST receipts on sales 180,000 24,790 15,541 (155,210) 9,249

GST receipts from taxation authority 20 O 0 382,338 760,862 382,338 (378,524)

Other receipts 21 5,000 201,335 67,658 196,335 133,677

Net cash used in operating activities  (8,140,000) (26,273,792) (8,180,730) (18,133,792) (18,093,062)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets (30,000) (37,004) (106,556) (7,004) 69,552

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets - - - - -

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (30,000) (37,004) (106,556) (7,004) 69,552
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Variance 
 note

Original  
budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimated 
and actual 

Variance 
between  

actual for 
 2016 & 2015

2016 $ 2016 $ 2015 $ $ $

Net increase/(decrease) in cash (2,670,000) (2,340,825) 263,631 329,176 (2,604,455)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the period  6,299,000 6,747,447 6,483,816 448,447 263,631

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD 3,629,000 4,406,622 6,747,447 777,622 (2,340,825)

Budget variance and actual explanations

Note 15:  Capital payment for the Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront project

Note 16: The increased income and expenditure is due to the large Royalties for Regions payment for Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront project and 
Margaret River Main Street development, which totals to $18,075,700

Note 17:  Employee benefits have decreased due to two staff being on maternity leave and unpaid leave

Note 18: Increase in professional services expenditure due to project activity on the Collie Economic Development Taskforce and Transforming Bunbury's   
Waterfront project

Notes 19&20: Significant grant payments have increased GST payments

Note 21:  Drawdown of Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront project funds from the City of Bunbury 

Note 22:  Budget other payments in the budget was greater than actuals in the current year

Budget variances between comparative actuals

Note K:  Financial Assistance agreements paid to City of Bunbury and the Shire of Augusta, Margaret River

Note M:  GST paid on the above

Note O:  GST movements on Grant payments

Note P:  Increase on the prior year caused by general salary increase of 2.5% additionally the 27th pay occurred in the 2015-16 financial year
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35. Financial instruments
a. Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission's overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Commission.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets 
is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown at Note 35(c).

Credit risk associated with the Commission’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Commission trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Commission’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.  At the end of the reporting period there are no significant concentrations 
of credit risk.  

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices and interest rates. The Commission's does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks, as they have a no Interest Bearing financial assets or liabilities.

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
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b. Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are:

2016 $ 2015 $

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents - 703,856

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,406,622 6,043,591

Receivables (a) 8,075 5,579

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 1,253,000

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 299,500 211,920

a. The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

c. Financial instruments disclosure

Credit risk

The following table discloses the Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial 
assets.  The Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of 
financial assets as shown below.  The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets.  The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.

The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it 
holds. 
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Ageing analysis of 
financial assets

Carrying 
amount 

Not past 
due 

and not  
impaired 

      Past due but not impaired
Impaired 
financial 

assets 
Up to 3 
months 

3 - 12 
months 

1 - 5 
 years 

2016 $ $ $ $ $ $

Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,406,622 4,406,622 - - - -

Receivables (a) 8,075 8,075 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 1,253,000 - - - -

5,667,697 5,667,697 - - - -

2015

Cash and cash equivalents 703,856 703,856 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,043,591 6,043,591 - - - -

Receivables (a) 5,579 5,579 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 1,253,000 - - - -

8,006,026 8,006,026 - - - -

a. The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES



100

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Commission's contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Interest rate exposure 
and maturity analysis 
of financial assets and 
liabilities

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate
Carrying 
amount

Interest rate exposure Maturity date

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 
rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
amount

Up to 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1 - 5 years

More than 
5 years

2016 % $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - - - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,406,622 - - 4,406,622 4,406,622 4,406,622 - - - -

Receivables (a) 8,075 - - 8,075 8,075 8,075 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 - - 1,253,000 1,253,000 - - 62,000 1,191,000

7,504,444 - - 5,667,697 5,667,697 4,414,697 - 62,000 1,191,000 -

Financial liabilities

Payables 299,500 - - 299,500 299,500 299,500 - - - -

299,500 - - 299,500 299,500 299,500 - - - -

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis    

None of the Commission's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are sensitive to movements in interest rates. Movements in interest rates would therefore 
have no impact on the Commission's surplus or equity.

Fair values    

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a 
reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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Interest rate exposure 
and maturity analysis 
of financial assets and 
liabilities

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate
Carrying 
amount

Interest rate exposure Maturity date

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 
rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
amount

Up to 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1 - 5 years

More than 
5 years

2015 % $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 703,856 - - 703,856 703,856 703,856 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,043,591 - - 6,043,591 6,043,591 6,043,591 - - - -

Receivables (a) 5,579 - - 5,579 5,579 5,579 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 1,253,000 - - 1,253,000 1,253,000 - - 62,000 1,191,000

8,006,026 - - 8,006,026 8,006,026 6,753,026 - 62,000 1,191,000 -

Financial liabilities

Payables 211,920 - - 211,920 211,920 211,920 - - - -

211,920 - - 211,920 211,920 211,920 - - - -

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES



102

36. Supplementary financial information
a. Write – offs

There were no write-offs during the financial year.

b. Losses through theft defaults and other causes

There were no losses of public money and other property during the financial year.

c. Gifts of public property

There were no gifts of public property provided by the Commission during the financial year.

37. Related bodies
The South West Development Commission had no related bodies.

38. Affiliated bodies
The South West Development Commission had no affiliated bodies.

39. Special purpose accounts
The South West Development Commission had no special purpose accounts.
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the South West Development Commission’s performance, and 
fairly represent the performance of the South West Development Commission year ended 30 June 2016.

Stuart Hicks AO

Chairman of the Board
8 August 2016

Anne Oades
Member of the Board
8 August 2016
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Desired outcome

The South West Development Commission’s outcome 
is to coordinate and promote an environment which is 
conducive to the balanced economic development of the 
South West region.

Key service

The Commission aims to build quality of life in the South 
West region through the development of new industries, 
more diverse opportunities for its residents, and 
community and industry infrastructure, while advancing 
sustainable jobs growth.

Relationship with Government policy

The South West Development Commission delivers its 
services through four strategic themes: Investing in People 
and Place, Investing in Infrastructure, Investing in Industry 
and Business, and Investing in Community.

These four strategic themes integrate together to provide 
a balanced approach to regional development. They 
are also aligned with the State Government’s strategic 
planning framework, ‘Stronger Focus on the Regions’, 
with greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic development to improve the 
overall quality of life in remote and regional areas.

The activities of the Commission aim to ensure that the 
South West is a strong and vibrant region.

1 = very ineffective,  7 = very effective

2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

Agree Mean Agree Mean Agree Mean Agree Mean

Target 80% n/a 80% n/a 80% n/a 80% n/a

Total client average 90% 6.18 91% 6.24 90% 6.26 82% 5.83

Local governments 88% 6.22 93% 6.26 81% 6.13 100% 5.58

Key clients 90% 6.17 90% 6.23 92% 6.29 79% 5.88

Effectiveness of the South West Development Commission

Key effectiveness indicators

As in previous years, the Commission’s effectiveness 

indicators are based on an evaluation survey conducted 

by an independent consultant.

Client satisfaction survey 2016

As part of the performance management component 

of the Commission's strategic planning process, 

independent consultancy firm, Savant Surveys and 

Strategies, was employed to undertake the 2016 SWDC 

Client Satisfaction Survey. Key stakeholders were 

surveyed to determine their views and understanding of 

the Commission's role, activities and performance. 

For all survey periods since 2003, two distinct sample 

populations have been identified – local governments and 

key clients. 

This year involved using an online self-completion 

methodology. The contacts were sent an email invitation 

to complete the annual client survey online. The survey 
questionnaire was distributed to all of the clients (255), 
including local government representatives 36). A total 
of 136 clients were interviewed, out of a possible 255 
(useable sample). This results is a maximum sampling 
error of +/- 5.75 per cent at 95 per cent level of 
confidence. Therefore, although generalisations from the 
sample to the population should be made with caution, a 
response rate of 53.33 per cent is commendable and a 
great deal of valuable data has been obtained.

Of the 136 responses received, a total of 25 local 
government representatives responded out of 36 equating 
to a response rate of 69.5 per cent. Overall 111 key 
clients responded out of the 219 equating to 50.5 per 
cent.   

Ninety per cent of responses rated the Commission’s 
advocacy for the region's needs as 'effective’ for 2015-
16. The total effectiveness rating is above the target of 
80%.
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Average cost per hour

Note 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

Operating cost 1 $6,200,512 $4,793,723 $5,059,164 $4,338,288 $4,611,934

Project / service hours 2 27,728 26,927 24,583 20,844 26,815

Cost per hour 3 $223 $178 $206 $202 $172

Target 4 $203 $186 $175 $178 $175

SERVICE: REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Key efficiency indicator

Average cost per hour of service

The operating costs of the South West Development 
Commission are based on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income total cost of services (excluding 
grants and subsidies) for the relevant period. 

Hourly cost is determined by dividing the expenditure for 
the period by the total hours worked for the period. 

Notes on variance between reporting periods

Note 1

Operating cost information is sourced from the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income excluding grants and subsidies.  
This year the cost to the Commission included the 
non-cash expense devaluation of the World of Energy 
Collection of $1,061,685. Excluding this devaluation the 

cost would have been $185 per hour. 

A net movement of $1,406,789 is presented, however, 

excluding the devaluation figure this would have been 

$345,104. 

Fluctuations are to be expected given the variable nature 

of project costs associated with projects managed by the 

Commission. 

Project work undertaken includes Royalties for Regions 

Southern Investment Initiatives, community grants 

including the South West Events Program, Community 

Chest Fund and Regional Grants Scheme, Busselton-

Margaret River Regional Airport, Busselton Foreshore 

Redevelopment, Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront 

Project, Margaret River Main Street Redevelopment, 

Ferguson Valley Tourist Route, Collie Economic 

Development Taskforce and progress of the South West 

Regional Blueprint, which guides economic growth, 

prosperity and lifestyle. 
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Note 2

Project hours are taken from employees' individual time 
sheets and can be influenced by the number and intensity 
of project activity, and the periods of leave which is 
recorded as inactivity. 

Note 3

Project hours are taken from employees' individual time 
sheets and can be influenced by the number and intensity 
of project activity, and the periods of leave which is 
recorded as inactivity. 

Note 4

The target cost per hour is an estimated figure based on 
expected staffing levels, project activities and strategic 
planning.
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DISCLOSURES

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Employment and industrial relations

As at the end of June 2016 the Commission had 22 full- 
time equivalent employees. The Commission’s employees 
are employed under the Public Service and Government 
Officers General Agreement 2014.

There was one workers compensation claim during the 
year.

Staff profile

The Commission recognises the benefits of workplace 
diversity and has a continued commitment to furthering 
these principles. 

Fifty two per cent of employees were aged over 45 with 
no employees aged less than 25 years. Sixty four per 
cent of employees were female and no Aboriginal or non-
English speaking background employees. 

When the Commission has capacity, we host school-
based work experience students and TAFE structured 
workplace learning students.

Staff profile 2015/16 2014/15

Full-time permanent 17 18

Full-time contract 2  0

Part-time measured on 
FTE basis 3 4

Part-time secondment 0 1

Total 22 23

Labour hire

In addition to staff directly employed by the Commission, 
temporary workers from local labour hire providers have 
been engaged to cover reception, grants administration 
and project support when required. 

Work-life balance

The Commission is committed to providing a working 
environment that takes into consideration the needs of 
employees and their families. The approach taken by the 
Commission is to provide flexible working arrangements 
that include the opportunity for employees to adjust their 
working hours through the use of flexi-time and to work 
from home.

Type of flexible 
arrangement

Permanent 
staff

Contract 
staff

Proportion 
of total

Working from 
home 0 0 0%

Working part-
time 4 0 17%

Flexible start/
finish 18 2 83%

Purchased leave 
arrangements 0 0 0%

Employee volunteering

The South West Development Commission is committed 
to providing services for the community and as a part of 
that service we encourage and support our employees 
to participate in community volunteering on a personal 
level as well as on behalf of the Commission. Employees 
are able to undertake volunteering duties by utilising the 
Commission’s flexible working arrangements, donating 
during fundraising activities and community organised 
events.

Professional development

The purpose of the Commission’s Professional 
Development Policy is to encourage and support 
employees to actively pursue their professional and career 
development as an integral element of their employment 
with the Commission. The Commission acknowledges 
that continuing professional development contributes to 
personal job satisfaction, workplace productivity, reward 
and recognition.

The Commission identifies organisational goals and 
priorities, and develops and implements a range of 
strategies and programs to enhance and build the 
capacity, skills and professionalism of employees to 
enable them to contribute effectively to the Commission's 
mission and strategic directions. The Commission is 
committed to providing employees with:

• The opportunity to develop capabilities that 
complement organisational and work goals.

• The opportunity to develop a career plan and 
participate in career development activities that 
extend and enhance their capabilities and capacity for 
advancement within the Public Sector.

• Equity of access to professional development 
opportunities.

2015/16

Total training costs $38,883

Average training investment $2,046

Staff who received study assistance 1

Staff who participated in 
professional development 0

Staff who received training courses 19
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Training initiatives in 2015/16 included:

• Agribusiness Association of Australia – Agriculture 
Breakfast 

• Aquaculture WA – Planning Workshop Aquaculture 
Strategy

• ATI Mirage – Training and Business Solutions Risk 
Management Course

• ATI Mirage – Training and Business Solutions 
Business Writing Course

• Bunbury Chamber of Commerce – NBN Launch 
Bunbury Information Session

• Busselton Chamber – Busselton Regional Airport 
Briefing Session

• Busselton Chamber – Presentation on Whicher Range 
Gas Fields

• Committee for Economic Development – Launch of 
Agriculture White Paper

• Committee for Economic Development – Briefing from 
Minister for Transport on WA Priorities

• Committee for Economic Development – Predicting 
Commodity Cycles

• Committee for Economic Development – State of the 
Regions Conference

• Community and Public Sector Union – Conflict in the 
Workplace

•  Community and Public Sector Union – Guide to Good 
Management

• Company Directors – Australian Institute of Company 
Directors Test

• Creative Corner – Emergence Conference

• Critical Horizons – Housing Seminar

• Curtin University – Tourism Seminar

• Department of Culture and the Arts (State Records) – 
Records Training

• Institute of Public Accountants – WA Congress 
Busselton

• Institute of Public Administration Australia – Annual 
Reporting Requirements

• Institute of Public Administration Australia – Lonnie 
Awards

• Management Solutions – Eco Tourism Conference

• Myles Pollard – Professional Development 
Presentation Training

• Myles Pollard – Presenting With Confidence

• Ngalang Wongi – Aboriginal Culture Tour

• National Tax and Accountants' Association – FBT 
Seminar

• Property Council – WA Leaders Conference

• Public Sector Commission – Accountable and Ethical 
Decision Making Refresher for Leaders

• Public Sector Commission – Public Interest Disclosure 
Act Awareness

• Public Sector Commission – Navigating the New 
Integrity Landscape  

• Psycorp – Corporate Services Team Development

• South West Agencies in Partnership – Women in 
Business Breakfast

• The Western Australian Indigenous Tourism Operators 
Council – Indigenous Tourism Conference

Study assistance in 2015/16 included:

• Bachelor of Arts
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES

No directives were received from the Minister for Regional 
Development during the year in review.

OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

Disability access and inclusion plan 
outcomes

The South West Development Commission has a 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan designed to ensure 
all people are considered in all its activities and services. 
The plan ensures access to Commission activities and 
events, buildings and facilities and information. It also 
ensures all people receive the same quality of service 
and opportunities to participate at the Commission 
as everyone else. The plan can be accessed from the 
Commission’s website or by phoning (08) 9792 2000. 

1. All people have the same opportunities to access 
services of, and any events organised by the 
Commission – Ensuring there is flexibility and 
adaptability in responding to any barriers experienced 
by people accessing services or events is considered 
a key initiative to achieve this outcome.  Policies and 
procedures are adapted where required.  

2. All people have the same opportunities to access the 
buildings and other facilities of the Commission – The 
Commission works in conjunction with the landlords 
to ensure that all buildings present no barriers to 
access and are developing a culture of awareness 
within the Commission to ensuring no barriers to 
access occur.

3. All people receive information from the Commission in 
a format that will enable them to access information 
readily – All information on services and public 

functions are produced using clear and concise 
language with an option of accessing this information 
in alternative formats if required upon request.

4. All people receive the same level and quality of 
service from the staff of the Commission – Customer 
service officers are fully trained to provide a 
professional and courteous customer service to all 
people.

5. All people have the same opportunities to make 
complaints to the Commission – Access to the 
Commission's complaints system is offered in a 
variety of formats.

6. All people have the same opportunities to participate 
in any public consultation by the Commission – The 
Commission ensured that all people are encouraged 
to take an active role in their community and worked 
to overcome any barriers.

Compliance with public sector standards 
and ethical codes

Compliance records for 2015/16:

• Public Sector Standards: No breach claims were 
lodged.

• WA Code of Ethics: No breach claims were lodged.

• SWDC Code of Conduct: No breach of conduct 
occurred.

The Commission has developed policy, guidelines and 
processes to support compliance with Public Sector 
standards and ensures that all associated activities are 
undertaken in a professional and unbiased manner.  
Employees are continually kept informed and standards 
reinforced during performance management, training and 
during inductions.

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Contracts with senior officers

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of 
employment of service, no senior officers, or firms of 
which senior officers are members, or entities in which 
senior officers have substantial interests had any interest 
in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission 
and senior officers.

Directors liability insurance

The Commission maintained Directors Liability Insurance 
for 2015/16 with the total premium being $1,989.35.

Use of Credit Cards

Officers of the South West Development Commission hold 
corporate credit cards where their functions warrant the 
use of this facility. Cardholders are reminded periodically 
of their obligations under the Commission's Corporate 
Credit Card Policy.

2015/16 $

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure for the reporting period 0

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure settled by the due date 
(within 5 working days) 0

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure settled after the period 
(after 5 working days) 0

Aggregate amount of personal use 
expenditure outstanding at balance 
date 0

CERTIFICATION FINANCIAL REPORTS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS DISCLOSURES
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During the year the following policies and plans were 
reviewed:

• Code of Conduct (Staff)

• Corporate Wardrobe (Uniform) Policy

• Gift Policy

• Official Hospitality Policy

• Procurement Policy

• Travel Policy

• Work Life Policy

• Corporate Credit Card

• Delegation Manual

• Financial Management Manual

•  Records Policy

•  Records Keeping Manual

•  Bullying in the Workplace

•  Grievance Policy

Reporting on record keeping plans

The South West Development Commission’s Record 
Keeping Plan details the record keeping program for 
the agency including which records are to be created 
and how those records are to be kept.  Measures to 
ensure compliance with the State Records Commission – 
Standard 2 Record Keeping Plans: Principle 6 – include:

 • The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
recordkeeping systems is evaluated not less than once 
every five years.

 • The organisation conducts an accountability and 
ethical decision making refresher course which includes 
recordkeeping. 

 • The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping 
training program is reviewed from time to time.

 • The organisation’s induction program addresses 
employee roles and responsibilities in regards to the 
requirements of the organisation's recordkeeping plan. 

Electoral Act compliance

In accordance with s175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, 
the Commission incurred the following expenditure in 
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and 
media advertising.

The total expenditure for 2015/16 was $27,932

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

$ $

Market research Agencies: 11,350

• Savant Surveys and Strategies 11,350

Media advertising:

• Print advertising
• E-Newsletter

16,032
550

16582

Total expenditure 27,932

Freedom of information

The Commission maintains a range of documents 
relating to its business activities in both hard copy and 
electronic form. These documents include inward and 
outward correspondence, contracts, agreements, reports, 
administrative files, personnel records, project files, 
financial records, internal manuals, statistical information, 
meeting minutes, promotional material, brochures, human 
resource information and asset records.

The Commission does not charge for brochures and 
publications. No charge is levied on requests for 
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Plan; by making all employees and contractors aware 

of their OSH responsibilities through access to OSH 

information and training; and by encouraging senior 

management to take leadership in OSH matters with a 

common view to improve OSH outcomes.

Consultation, communication and cooperation between 

employers and employees are the key components in 

providing and maintaining a safe and healthy workplace.

The following actions will form the basis of the 

Commission’s consultation mechanism:

 • Employee involvement in hazard identification, risk 

assessment and risk control process through the 

reporting of potential risk to either their manager or 

by entering that incident in the central register.

» Accidents that occur

» Near miss accidents

» Potential hazards in work areas

 • Feedback from employees on occupational safety 

and health issues.

» By survey on an annual basis

» During team meetings

 • Communication to employees of the OSH 

management system on implementation and on 

review.

 • Inclusion of OSH management system requirements 

in employee inductions.

 • Regular reporting of OSH issues at corporate 

executive meetings.

 • Reporting of any irregular OSH risks or incidents to 

the SWDC Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. 

The South West Development Commission is committed 
to providing quality and prompt injury management 
support to all employees of SWDC who sustain a work 
related injury or illness, with a focus on safe and early 
return to meaningful work and in accordance with the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 

1981.

The expected injury management outcomes are:

 • Return to work in the same position 

 • Return to work in a new position

 • Return to work in a position with another agency

Annual performance for 2015/16

Target 
2015/16

Actual 
2015/16

Number of fatalities 0 0

Lost time injury/diseases 
(LTI/D) incidence rate 0 0

Lost time injury severity rate 0 1

Percentage of injury n/a

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management 
responsibilities

Greater or 
equal to 

50% 20%

Occupational Safety and Health initiatives in 2015/16 
included:

 • Flu vaccinations

Complaints management

The South West Development Commission is committed 
to providing customers with high quality services to meet 
their needs, and if customers are dissatisfied with the 
services provided, or the way in which they are provided, 

information or access to files although the Commission 

does reserve the right to recoup costs.

The South West Development Commission has a policy 

of providing personal information on request. Requests 

can also be made under the provisions of the Freedom of 

Information Act 1992 for which a $30 charge applies.

Chief Finance Officer

South West Development Commission

9th Floor Bunbury Tower

61 Victoria Street

Bunbury   WA   6230

The Commission received two Freedom of Information 

requests during the year. 

GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS

Occupational safety and health

The South West Development Commission is committed 

to achieving a high standard of occupational safety and 

health performance through effective safety management 

in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health 

Act 1984 and the Government of Western Australia’s 

Code of Practice ‘Occupational Safety and Health in the 

Western Australian Public Sector’.

The objective of the policy is to have workplaces that are 

free of work-related injuries and diseases. This objective 

will be achieved by developing and implementing safe 

systems of work and by continuing to identify hazards and 

control risks as far as practicable.

The Commission will do this by operating in accordance 

with occupational safety and health legislation, 

regulations, approved codes of practice and WorkSafe 
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the Commission is keen to investigate and if necessary 
rectify any problems. 

As such, the Commission has a complaints management 
policy and procedures. Access to the policy is available 
by phone, in person or via our website.  A customer 
feedback service has been established to ensure that 
customer complaints are heard and dealt with fairly and 
quickly without prejudice or bias. A variety of formats such 
as telephone, email, written and in person are available for 
the lodgement of complaints to the Commission.

Confidentiality is maintained at all times.

The Commission’s Chief Executive Officer has been 
appointed the complaints officer.

There were no complaints received during the reporting 
period.
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